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Minmetals Land Limited is a subsidiary and the sole listed
real estate flagship of China Minmetals Corporation in Hong
Kong. Minmetals Land Limited’s principal business includes
real estate development, specialised construction and
property investment. Currently, its real estate development
business covers the Pan Bohai Rim, Yangtze River Delta,
Central China Region, Chengdu-Chongqing Region and Pearl
River Delta (including Hong Kong).
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
2w B R

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. He Jianbo — Chairman

Mr. Liu Bo — Managing Director

Mr. Chen Xingwu — Deputy Managing Director
Mr. Yang Shangping — Deputy Managing Director

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Ms. He Xiaoli
Mr. Huang Guoping

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny
Professor Wang Xiuli

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Cheng Ka Hang, Francis

LEGAL ADVISOR
Norton Rose Fulbright Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27th Floor, One Taikoo Place,

979 King's Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Company, Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

Chong Hing Bank Limited

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

China Zheshang Bank Company, Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Industrial Bank Company, Limited

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716,

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East,

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Victoria Place,

5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street,
Hamilton HM 10,

Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

18th Floor, China Minmetals Tower,
79 Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Tel: 2613 6363

Fax: 2581 9823

Email: info@minmetalsland.com

WEBSITE

http://www.minmetalsland.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
755 i B

REVENUE TOTAL ASSETS (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
PN EEHAT EE(FR),/ &7
1 RET B
T e b @
ST+ 2T g0+
2te 2 10,064,529 225 & 67,387,025 2 l!p“ S (1,360,224)
T z D T 7
£ % § 12,885,638 5 77,173,244 2 % 5 631,807
m & 7,661,646 S 68,387,737 g 437,340
£ 11,261,431 S 48,961,365 g 1,352,583
BASIC (LOSS)/ CORE (LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
NAV" PER SHARE EARNINGS PER SHARE EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY*

BREERE" BREX(BE) BFN  AIREFEARLLL (BR) /&1

g = o X o X
il Bet SEE .
b ] (] Ny m ~ oy ]
v ol @ il
T Tl g T+ g2+
=04 Q3 o Sl Q3 S g N
2% 3 2.04 Tem o (40.71) C2m 8 106,719
& = S ~ 2 =~
5 299 g 8 2.67 g 8 356,369
(e} (e}
S 287 g 3.36 = 445,778
o o ~
()} (o)) (o)}
) 2.75 S 28.17 > 894,670
o o~ ~
For the year ended 31 December
BET=A=t—BEFE  percentage
2023 2022 change (%)
—E== —ECF AILBE (%)
Basic loss per share for loss EATIRERE AENL
attributable to equity holders of EBREZ2ERELREE
the Company (HK cents) (&AL (30.34) (40.71) -25.5%
Net debt (HK$ million)* BEFE(BEEL) 19,802 15,883 +24.7%
Net gearing ratio (%)* FAELE %)™ 138.0% 94.5% +43.5%%*
*  Core (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company excludes allowance for — *  ARQRBRAEFEARIGEZL (BE), ST 8EEE
impairment of inventories, share of impairment of inventories of associates and joint BERE  DIEHMERRREEARNTFERE E
ventures, exchange losses, fair value changes on investment properties, reversal/ RBX - BREMEZ AFTEZE RIEWERTRERR
allowance for impairment of receivables. B -
**  Change in percentage points »* RESHNEE)
* Net debt = (Total borrowings — Cash and bank deposits) fOBEEFE = (BRAE - B RROTFER
“  Net gearing ratio = Net debt woOFaELE = BIEFE
Total equity [ Eatt
A Net asset value attributable to equity holders of the Company N RREIRERBARBLEZEETE
—EZ=FH 007 TEERRAA

\



HONOURS AND AWARDS
SRB AN

I REAL ESTATE DEVELOPMENT
FibEER

Minmetals Land Limited

LEEERRAF

g

2023 Real Estate Outstanding Enterprise o
Performance

203 EE MM FERIR

2023 Listed Enterprise Outstanding Performance

2023F FTESBRIR

2023 Annual Real Estate Enterprises with
Investment Value .

03 FEREBEEDRE

2023 Top 100 Chinese Real Estate Brand
Influential Enterprises

03 AEHEREEE N B RDE

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
M=EE

China Minmetals Tower

HERERE

Honorable Managed Property Award
BB IR AR

Quality Water Supply Scheme for Buildings — Fresh
Water (Management System) (Gold)

REBEHKRAE — RK(EERER) ()

gl WRGRDE Y

sunn - ERSSSAMER
nieapRnesd

EHL LT St ly AFREERER

EFESEREE

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 008

8\

2023 Annual Real Estate Enterprises with
Innovation

2023 F EBIFT b E %

2023 Top 50 Listed Real Estate Enterprises in
China with Operational Stability

20237 B i b EE (b AL R METOP 50

2023 Top 100 Listed Real Estate Enterprises in
China with Comprehensive Competitiveness

20237 B E M EHIE (R R AR A B HTOP 100

LKF29

° Quality Water Supply Scheme for Buildings
— Fresh Water (Management System)

(Gold)
AREBEHKRAGFE — RK(EEER
7 (&)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A 5

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
SEC=F T T —T_FTE —_T-hE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Results E
Revenue WA 12,630,739 10,064,529 12,885,638 7,661,646 11,261,431
Operating profit/(loss) RN, (E18) 592,573 (414,827) 1,193,649 652,873 2,079,235
Finance income U A 184,386 178,863 249,115 222,799 221,744
Finance costs BA TS AR (477,416) (138,144) (163,076) (69,471) (26,739)
Share of results of DIRE A N R EE
associates (209,869) (786,422) (264,007) 4,469 (3,761)
Share of results of joint DIEAEERAIEE
ventures 33,889 137,773 48,253 (2,260) (10,380)
Profit/(loss) before tax BR&E AR R, (&) 123,563 (1,022,757) 1,063,934 808,410 2,260,099
Income tax expense R (649,249) (337,467) (432,127) (371,070) (907,516)
(Loss)/profit for the year REE (BB)%F  (525686) (1,360,224) 631,807 437,340 1,352,583
(Loss)/profit attributable to:  (E518), & FIEREH :
Equity holders of the ZAN/NGIE E
Company BB A (1,015,518)  (1,362,468) 89,209 112,370 942,689
Holders of perpetual KAEBEARTE
capital instruments BFEA — 45,197 164,996 220,578 219,089
Non-controlling interests ~ JE12E IR A% R 4 &% 489,832 (42,953) 377,602 104,392 190,805
Assets and liabilities EERAE
Non-current assets FEmBEE 6,492,438 7,244,734 8,123,710 7,700,506 5,875,617
Current assets TENE B 47,082,715 60,142,291 69,049,534 60,687,231 43,085,748
Total assets BERRE 53,575,153  677387,025  77,173244 68387737 48,961,365
Equity attributable to equity N2 & fkIEREE A
holders of the Company L2 e 5,287,069 6,819,529 10,020,461 9,598,951 9,193,845
Perpetual capital KABRTE
instruments — — 2,448,182 3,947,539 3,803,647
Non-controlling interests  JE{2 A% I% SR A 25 9,060,576 9,992,569 10,649,268 8,863,517 3,269,226
Total equity T 14,347,645 16,812,098  23,117911 22410007 16,266,718
Non-current liabilities ERBBE 8,530,242 17,753,100 14,860,560 15,928,050 9,723,554
Current liabilities mEBE 30,697,266 32,821,827  39,194773  30,049680 22,971,093
Total liabilities BEES 39,227,508 50574927 54055333 45977730 32,694,647
Total equity and liabilities = &k B 1EHEE 53,575,153 67,387,025 77,173,244 68387737 48,961,365
et XS 009 AR EERAF

\
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GROUP PROPERTIES

ESLEYES
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 ##1L Foshan . . M Huizhou
%3 Shenzhen | -
AP S = &7 Hong Kong
As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s projects breakdown was listed as below:
RZZEZ=F+-_fF=+—8 AEEBEEZEXNOT :
Percentage
Construction Share of
Location ith B Site Area Floor Area Land Bank Land Bank
1 L th 8
WEEE HLEEEE T HhiEE Bat
sg.m. sg.m. sg.m.
(FFAK) (FFE7HK) (FFHK)
Pan Bohai Rim R EH & 2,270,000 5,226,000 2,178,000 32.7%
Yangtze River Delta E=AtE 812,000 2,225,000 278,000 4.2%
Central China Region i & 2,419,000 5,978,000 1,472,000 22.1%
Chengdu-Chongqing Region Ak Jal i [& 665,000 1,631,000 1,318,000 19.7%
Pearl River Delta L=mAitE
(including Hong Kong) (BEEE) 1,303,000 2,926,000 1,421,000 21.3%
Total et 7,469,000 17,986,000 6,667,000 100%
MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 012 ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Fortune Garden it 21 E

Location

bt
VLVJsage'
ik

Site area

AR E A

Construction floor area

: Xibeiwang Town, Haidian District,

Beijing, the PRC

o B 5 I 7 A A

: Rgsidential
- B
. Approximately 139,000 square

metres

#9139000FFK
. Approximately 414,000 square

BEEMEIE metres
- #)414,000°F 77 K
Group's interest : 51%
REBFIEER

Construction . Completed
completion date [

%A

Harrow Town H53& /NE

Location

Jiangxintun Town, Xianghe County,
Langfang City, Hebei Province, the

PRC
%ﬁib%%iﬁﬁéiﬂ%ﬁ‘%ﬁﬁﬁ

[
E—‘

dus)

p=

Usgage . Residential
A i =
Site area . Approximately 550,000 square
L AE TH AR metres
#]550,000F 75 K

Construction floor area

. Approximately 1,285,000 square

AR AR metres

#71,285,000% 75 K
Group’'s interest : 50%
REBE PTG
Expected construction  : Land plot No. 3 in 4Q 2025 .
completion date FoAIRAMIR: — T RFE
& Hi 3R T B A7 =

Beijing Chao Yang One it EHE =55

Location : Wangsiyingxiang, Chaoyang
24 District, Beijing, the PRC

R EIE R RS @ T T e 48
Usage . Residential
R =
Site area . Approximately 49,000 square
A EE metres

#749,000F 75 2K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 189,000 square
MIREEE metres

#9189,000F 73 5K
Group's interest : 40%
REBEFEER
Expected construction @ 2Q 2024
completion date ZECNFE_F

BAHIRT A A

Platinum Bay # 7% . 175 %

Location : Liaoning (Yingkou) Coastal

b 2 Industrial Base, Yingkou City,
Liaoning Province, the PRC
FEEERLOMEE(Z0)%
TR A M

Usage . Residential

A& =

Site area . Approximately 396,000 square

AR EE metres
#9396,000F 77 2K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 377,000 square

BIE A metres
#9377,000F 77 2K

Group's interest : 100%

REBEFEER

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

% T A5

—TZ=FR

\

Minmetals International B A ERE & A B

Location . At east of Yingbin Main Road and

B south of Tuochang Road, Tanggu
District, Tianjin, the PRC
REREMELRDERNEUAR
R BE 58 A

Usage . Residential and commercial

Az EEREHE

Site area : Approximately 21,000 square metres

b 88 [ 15 #921,000%F 73 2K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 183,000 square

AR AR metres
#7183,000°F 77 2K

Group's interest : 100%

REBFERER

Construction . Completed

completion date B%T

% T A

ARBERRDA



GROUP PROPERTIES
ESLEIES

N

Neo-Metropolis 7~ 3 3

‘

Academic Royale TL1E - X &3

Location : Yixingbuzhen, Bei Chen District, Location . At Tian He Road, Jianye District,
24 Tianjin, the PRC_ B Nanjing, Jiangsu_Province, the PRC
PRI EMIL R R E HIRE HR BT AR A R P & RO B
Usgage . Residential Usz\a{ge : Residential
j3zh=S F=E iz F=
Site area : Approximately 1,115,000 square Site area . Approximately 136,000 square
B EE metres Hb A8 E A metres
#71,115,000F 75 2K #7136,000F 15 K

Construction floor area

. Approximately 2,778,000 square

Construction floor area

. Approximately 482,000 square

MREEMIE metres AR AR metres
#92,778,000F 75 K #9482,000°F 77 K

Group's interest 1 49% Group's interest : 100%

NEBE G REBE IR

Expected construction 2Q 2030 . Construction . Completed

completion date ZE=TFEF completion date 2% T

& Bk T H

3% T 3 Ef

Sello Royale Hifg - hE &

Yan Shan Ju 2L FE

Location . At Zhong Ling Jie, Xuanwu District,
i B Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
PR IHEE R 2N BEEE
Usg{ge : Residential
A& F=
Site area . Approximately 91,000 square metres
AR E AR #]91,000%F 75 3K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 203,000 square
4B EETE AR metres
#9203,000F 75 2K
Group’s interest : 100%
REBFTIEHE =
Construction . Completed
completion date B%T

3% T HEf

Enchant 156 4 R

é Oasis T T& «

Location : At south of Hongjing Main Road, Location . At the junction of Shuanglong Main

Hh2h Science Park, Jiangning District, i Bh Road and Xuelindong Road,
Naﬂ‘ipggJiangsuA_Rrovince, the PRC Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
BT & A R 5OT % & BHERE 54 Province, the PRC \
FABIAR E;;I,;ﬁx%@ml%@%%ék@

Usage . Residential BRI 25

Rz F= Usg{ge : Residential

Site area : Approximately 179,000 square iz =

HAREE metres Site area . Approximately 95,000 square metres
#179,000F 73 K b B8 T 7R #995,000F 5 >k

Construction floor area  : Approximately 270,000 square Constrgction floor area . Approximately 255,000 square

BIEEEIE metres 4B AR metres
#9270,000F 73 2K #9255,000°F 75 K

Group’s interest 1 100% Group’s interest : 100%

REBEMEER REBFIEHE S

Construction . Completed Construction . Completed

completion date B®T completion date B%T

T A Hf % T HE

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 014 ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Enchanté Cove T 1& « E 5 1L

Location : At the junction of Fanggian Main

32 Road and Wushi Road, Jiangning
District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,
thePRC .
PRI #H AT ER T AIAE
HEIEE KRR

Usz\a{ge : Residential

A& =

Site area . Approximately 68,000 square metres

I 82 TE 1E #168,000F 75 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 148,000 square

HBIEETEIE metres
#7148,000F 15 %

Group’s interest 1 100%

RNEBATIEER

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

T HH

Jiang Shan Da Jing T L K38

Location : At the junction of Guangming Road

b 2h and Lixin Road, Pukou District,
Nanjigg;}_iangstLP\rovince, the PRC
o BT 4 95U F IR o B B
SLFTHE 2 SR

Usage . Residential

Bz =

Site area . Approximately 83,000 square metres

It 32 T 1R #183,000°F 75 2K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 285,000 square

BIEEEIE metres
#9285,000F 75 K

Group's interest 1 39.8%

AN PG RE =

Construction . Completed

completion date BT

T A

Majestic Mansion & I EfF

Location . At the junction of Yanshan Road and

I 2 Shuiximen Jie, Gulou District,
Nani‘ipgdiangsg_Province, the PRC
o BT R T S A L B B
KAPIR T 2SR

Usgage : R\esﬁigential\and commercial

Rk EEREE

Site area : Approximately 43,000 square metres

AR E A #)43,000F 75 2K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 233,000 square

REEEE IR metres
#9233,000F 75 K

Group's interqsL ©34.1%

NS B PG R s

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

% T HE

Location

il

Enchanté Park FL7E «

R BEE L

. East of the Nanjing Jiangning

high-tech park Zhengfang Main
Road and south of Shimeng Road,
Jiangning District, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC .
HENI#E R ULE R HEE
FREUAR - 2 IARE

G

: Residential

x=

Site area

AR E

: Approximately 61,000 square metres

#61,000F 75 K

Construction floor area

. Approximately 181,000 square

(EFEEEEIR metres
#9181,000F 77 2K

Group's interest : 100%

REB TG E R

Construction . Completed

completion date BT

BT AH

Suzhou City Valley £ MM & BZ2E

Location : South of Min Sheng Road and West

b 2h of Xing Pu Road, High Trade Zone,
Suzhou Industrial Park, Suzhou,
Jiangsu +P+r0\\/in+ce, the fRC
TEOTHAHMNTHEM T XBR
= ERRBKRE - BUBKT

Use\ige . Residential

A i T=x

Site area . Approximately 56,000 square metres

AR E S #]56,000F 75 2K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 168,000 square

KRIEEETE IR metres
#9168,000F 75 K

Group’'s interest : 55.0%

REBATIEHE

Expected construction  : 4Q 2024

completion date

FEHIIR T B H

ZENFENE

\

015

ARBERRDA




GROUP PROPERTIES
ESLEIES

N

Changsha Wanjing Yayuan R B E 7 H

Location : East of East Nine Road, North of

HhBh Wang Xian Road, West of East Ten
Road, South of Te Li Road, Changsha

City, Hunan Province, the PRC

o ) 47 0 Th B B R L35

LA~ LB DAL - SRR DARE -

BB bR
Usgge : R\es;@lential
A& =
Site area . Approximately 137,000 square
AR EE metres
#9137,000F 77 2K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 310,000 square
MREEMIE metres )
#9310,000F 77 2K
Group’s interest ©51%
REBATEER
Expected construction  : 4Q 2025 .
completion date ZTERAFENE
TEER R T A A

LOHAS International Community Scotland Town 1%

. EEERHE

Location At Yuntang Village and Yuetang
Location . At Gaoyun Road, Muyun Town, b 2 Village, Muyun Town, Changsha,
I E Cha%sha, Hunan Province, the PRC Hunan Province, the PRC
FENEARY D EEADER A R B B EEE A
Usgge . Residential K AN
A& F=E Usgge © Residential
Site area . Approximately 643,000 square Az Gz
R EE metres Site area . Approximately 333,000 square
#7643,000F 75 K Hh AR T A5 metres
Constkrgction floor area  : Approximately 1,084,000 square #1333,000°F 77 K
REEMEIE metres Construction floor area  : Approximately 442,000 square
#91,084,000F 77 2K AR IR rinetres
Group's interest : 100% #7442,000°F 77K
NEB TGRS Group’s interest : 100%
Construction . Completed Gl
completion date [ Construction . Completed
% T H B completion date B%T
% T HH

Qin Royale H & « b E € 3

Location . At Fu Yuan West Road, Kaifu District,

I 2 Changsha, Hunan Province, the PRC
;ﬁﬂﬁ%%@mﬁﬁﬁﬁxﬁ
=]

Usz\a{ge : R\esﬂential\and commercial
i EEREHE
Site area . Approximately 150,000 square
AR T metres
#7150,000F 75 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 570,000 square
AR R AR metres
#9570,000°F 77 oK
Group's intereﬁL : 100%
REBE TGRS
Construction . Completed
completion date B®T
% T HH
MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 016 ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Changsha Minmetals Plaza R A& E 5

. Within the central business unit of

Location
HBh

Xiangjiang Riverbank area, south of
Baisha Road, in between
Xiangjiangzhong Road and Shuyuan
Road, Tianxin District, Changsha,
Hunan Province, the PRC
BB £ T A O E D
— AR & 5 B B UARS - ML

B 1 E B 5% 2 i
Usgge . Commercial
Jiikes z
Site area . Approximately 22,000 square metres
I 42 T 18 #122,000F 75 2K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 192,000 square
BREMEIE metres

#9192,000F 77 5K
Group’s interest 1 100%
REBEFEER
Expected construction  : 2Q 2026

completion date
TEHER % T A &

ZEZRFEF

Realm of Landscape & & &

Location

I E

. At No. 79, Section 2, Xiangjiang

North Road, Kaifu District, Changsha,
Hunan Province, the PRC

B A R T RERMIIE
B —ER795%

Usgage . Residential
BiE F=
Site area . Approximately 87,000 square metres
It 82 T 1R #987,000°F 73 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 311,000 square
HBIEEEIE metres
#9311,000F 77 2K
Group's interest 1 255%

REE FTL

Expected construction
completion date

JEE® T A H

: Phase 1: completed

Phase 2: under plannin

—HERT - —HIRET

Greenland Centre #%ith 1 /0

Location - At No. 319, Section 1, Furong Middle

b 2 Road, Kaifu District, Changsha,
Hunan Prov[ncq, th@ PRC e
HEEE RS TRERIEF
B — B 31958

Usgage . Commercial

M x =

Site area . Approximately 23,000 square metres

It 42 T 15 #923,000°F 75 oK

Construction floor area : Approximately 259,000 square

REEME metres
#9259,000F 77 2K

Group's interest 1 255%

REB TG ER

Construction . Completed

completion date BRI

% T HH

—EZ=FR

\

017

Xiangtan Scenery Cove #E « B Ek &

Location . At No. 28 Xuefu Road, Economic and

i B Technological Development Zone,
Xiangtan, Hunan Province, the PRC
Fp BUH S 8 R T A B i R A
[ 22 7 B 28 55%

Usa{ge : Residential

A& F=

Site area : Approximately 428,000 square

AT metres
#9428,000 75 2K

Construction floor area

: Approximately 1,104,000 square

AR AR metres )
#91,104,000F 75 2K

Group's intereﬁL ©51%

REBEFEER

Expected construction  : 2Q 2027 .

completion date ZTEEFEF

FEHIR T B &

Enchanté Crest BLHE « HWIXEE

Location . At the junction of Songjiagangdong

b 2 Road and Huayun Road,
Panlongcheng Economic
Development Zone, Huangpi District,
Wuhqn, Hubgi\Prchirlge, the PRC
o B0 48 1t 4 B 1 B [ 48 Be AT
5 ) B I R 5 foef BB BB SR R A2 SR

Usgge . Residential

A& F=

Site area . Approximately 61,000 square metres

42 A8 #161,000F 75 2K

Construction floor area : Approximately 180,000 square metres

R EETEIR #1180,000F 15 K

Group's interest : 100%

REEPTEER

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

% T HH

IWBEFRL A



GROUP PROPERTIES
ESLEIES

Taian Scenery Cove % . B /KF

Wuhan Scenery Cove & E& B K &

Location : Changcheng Road, Angao New

B District, Taian, Shangdong Province,
the PRC o \
HEIRERLT L= ERHN
B

Usgge : Residential

P& =

Site area : Approximately 270,000 square

B TE AR metres
#9270,000F 75 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 699,000 square

RFEERTE IR metres
#9699,000F 75 K

Group's mteresL ©51%

N5 [ P oG R 2

Construction . Completed

completion date [

% T B H

Minmetals Chai Da Mu Plaza T iELZE RKEH

Location : Between Third Ring South and Location - Wusi West Road, Haihu New District,
It 2 Fourth Ring South, Wuhan, Hubei i B Xining, Qinghai Province, the PRC
Province, the PRC TEEEEAET SR
H B AL A ROZ T R = IR B &
=
R Usa\a{ge : Commercial
Usgage © Residential Mz =
ik £ Site area . Approximately 152,000 square
Site area . Approximately 62,000 square metres AR EFE metres
i SR E A #)62,000F 75 K #7152,000F 73 K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 215,000 square Construction floor area  : Approximately 464,000 square
MREEMEIE metres AT metres
#9215,000F 77 2K #9464,000F 77 K
Group's interest 1 100% Group's interest : 51%
NEBE GRS REE PTG
Construction . Completed Construction . Completed
completion date B®T completion date 2% T

% T H Ef

% T A A8

Taian Scenery Centre RZ L IEERES

West Begonia 1L 7 - A E HE

Location : Changcheng Road, Angao New Location : Wenjiajie Road, Qingyang District,
26 District, Taian, Shandong Province, HoE Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the PRC
NePRC e e \ )| A R KR
PEILRERZTLZaREMR X REE
B Usage . Residential
Usgage : Commercial A& F=
Ui . Site area : Approximately 22,000 square metres
Site area _ : Q\pproximate\y 51,000 square metres AR TS #922,0005F 5 K
SREE R #I51,000°F 7 K Construction floor area  : Approximately 80,000 square metres
Construction floor area  : Approximately 148,000 square AR R AR #980,000F 75 2K
EIEATE IR metres o ) .
#9148,000F 75 3K Group's interest - 100%
! N5 B P A M 5
Group's interest : 51% .
> Construction . Completed
AKBPTE RS completion date B®T
Construction : Phase 2: completed; % T HEA
completion date Phase 3: under plannin%
3% T A H JHIR BT - 3R A
MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 018 ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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F.B’Jug“
A-—llm,_;n

Chengdu West-Lake Future City X #B 78 34 5 38 35

Location . Eastern new district of Dayi County,
2 Chengdu City, Sichuan Province, the
PRC
I RE K B 5 R BD T =
Usgage : Residential and commercial
A& FERMEE
Site area . Approximately 516,000 square
BB T8 metres )
#9516,000F 77 2K

Construction floor area

MR EEEE

: Approximately 1,176,000 square

metres

#91,176,000°F J5 K

Group's interest

REE L =

: 100%

Expected construction
completion date

FE B3k T H &

. Phase 6 in 4Q 2024

FRE T NFFNE

Dayi Shaqu project R&E A2 W RIEH

Location : Shaqu Subdistrict, Dayi County,

I B Chengdu City, Sichuan Province, the
EFIE IEREARES G REE

Usz\age . Residential

A& =

Site area : Appro><|mately 44,000 square metres

it A2 T 18 #]44,000F 7 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 114,000 square

HIEEEE metres

#7114,000F 75 2K

Group's interest

RE BTG S

: 100%

Expected construction
completion date
TEER M T A A

: Under planning

HEIF

Chengdu Xindu Guiyu Mingdi 5 %8 %7 #8 #£ 52 % BB

Location : No.5 Community, Huamei Village,

B Dafeng Town, Xindu District,
Chengdu Sichuan Province, the PRC
o B 7Y 1| 45 K 26 2 2D A 2 8
EEXMNAA

Usgage . Residential

A& =

Site area : Approximately 39,000 square metres

AR AR #)39,000F 75 2K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 121,000 square

REEEE IR metres
#)121,000F 7 K

Group's mtereét © 51.0%

REBFEER

Expected construction  : 4Q 2025

completion date

FEH R T B A7

“ECREFRE

Chengdu Xindu Lanyue Xian Huayuan

REBHFHREZ=TEE

FiE
t
Fi]

Location : No.7 Community,Tuojiang,No.7

i B Community, Hancheng Village, Xindu
Town, Xindu District, Chengdu, Sichuan
Province, the PRC
R ) || & D T R 2 e R BB SRE
WATEAL - JBIT 4D

Usgge . Residential

A& F=

Site area : Approximately 44,000 square metres

Hh A2 T 8 #144,000F J5 2K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 140,000 square

AR AR metres
#9140,000F 77 2K

Group's |nterq§t © 51.0%

NEBIGER

Expected construction  : 4Q 2024

completion date

FEH R T B &

ZEZNFENE

ARBERRDA



GROUP PROPERTIES

ESLEIES

‘

Foshan Academic Royale f# || L i « 5= X &3

Hallstatt See F7Z .

5 i 3B 45

Location : Lujingdong Road, Chancheng Location : Mai Tian Ling, Boluo County,

B District, Foshan, Guangdong B Hmzhou City, Guangdong Province,
Province, the PRC o
Fh B B B (OB LU A I [ AR R R EPI ?é%@ﬂlﬂﬁ@zﬁ&?mﬁﬂ%

Usgage : Residential Usg{ge . Residential

Rz = P& t=

Site area . Approximately 43,000 square metres Site area : Approximately 918,000 square

A% TE AR #943,000F 75 K B T AR metres

Construction floor area  : Approximately 214,000 square #1918,000F 77 K

BREmE metres ) Construction floor area : Approximately 1,549,000 square
#)214,000F 77 K HEEEE metres )

Group's interest 1 100% #11,549,000F 75 K

NEB TGS Gr%gups \ntereéL 100%

Construction . Completed ARBP RS

completion date B®T Expected construction  : High rise of Iihase Vin 4Q 2025

®T A

‘

Greenery Terrace E#i &

Location : Xingnan Main Road, Nancun County,
b 2h Panyu District, Guangzhou,

Guam do %Provirlge, the PRC

BEM TSR E

pRe 4
Usage : Residential
& =
Site area Approxmate\y 17,000 square metres
it 42 T 15 #)17,000°F 75 2K

Constructlon floor area

: Approximately 29 000 square metres

iY== #129,000F 75 2K
Groups interest : 100%
REBEER

Construction . Completed
completion date [

% T HH

ParcOne T - =EE &

Location : Changling Road, Huangpu District,

b 2 Guangzhou Guangdong Province,
EFI %é & )N T = i R g R

Usgge : Residential

P& T

Site area : Approxmate\y 72,000 square metres

I BR TE fE #)72,000F 75 2K

Construction floor area

: Approximately 258,000 square

R metres
#7258,000F J5 K

Group's interest 51%

REBEFEER

Construction . Completed

completion date BRI

% T HH

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

\

completion date

TEE R T H 8

BEXN  ZTZRF

3
oHLE
)

Regent Heights T 7% 48 & & 1L fF

Location : Maogang Road, Huangpu District,

B Guangzhou Guangdong Province
EPI %é & )1 T 4 (R 5 e B

Usgge . Residential

A& T=

Site area : Approximately 2 ,000 square metres

b 88 [ 15 #921,000°F 75 2K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 72,000 square metres

HEREEWEIE #)72,000%F 75 3K

Group's \nterq§t ©51%

REBEFEER

Construction . Completed

completion date B®T

=l

Guangzhou River Skyline /& M T KB

Location . Complex on phase Il of metro line
B no. 13, Baiyun District, Guangzhou,
Guangdon Province, the PRC i
Bl E)NT E R E3
SRAR — BARESA LIS UL AR A B2
Usgge : Residential and commercial
Bi& FEREE
Site area : Approximately 77 000 square metres
b 88 [ 15 #977,000%F 73 2K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 350,000 square
AR metres
#7350,000°F 77 K
Group's interest : 45.9%
REBFEER
Expected construction  : 4Q 202
completion date —ZT- FE
TEHE T A 5
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



Guangzhou Langyun Garden & MBI E7E &

Location : At Airport Expressway, Baiyun

24 District, Guangzhou, Guangdong
Province, the PRC o
TEERERERMTAZREES
EAH

Us§$e . Residential

iz (s

Site area . Approximately 57,000 square metres

I AR T 18 #)57,000F 5 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 130,000 square

MRREMEIE metres )
#9130,000F 77 2K

Group's interejL : 10%

NEBEFEER

Construction . Completed

completion date BT

T A

Nan’an Project F % 15 H

Location : Xiaxi Village, Yingdu Town, Nan‘an

b 2h City, Quanzhou, Fujian Province, the
PRC
PEEEERMELMARBEE
R

Usage . Industrial

A&

Site area . Approximately 56,000 square metres

It 42 T 15 #956,000°F 77 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 81,000 square metres

R #181,000F 75 2K

Group's interest : 70%

REBAIEER

Expected construction @ 4Q 2024

completion date
FEER T A )

ZENFENE

The Greenville & 1 fF

Location : Maluan Subdistrict, Pingshan District,
B Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the
PRC
B R AR IR L [ S ST e
Usg{ge : R\esﬂential\and commercial
A% FEREE
Site area . Approximately 31,000 square metres
A2 AR #]31,000F 75 2K
Construction floor area  : Approximately 178,000 square
BIEEMEE metres i
#9178,000°F 77 2K
Group's interest C51%
REBE TGRSR
Construction . Completed
completion date 2% T

% T 3 Ef

Montego Bay BfEE R =

Location : 18 Shung Shun Street, Yau Tong,

Ho B Kowloon, Hong Kong
EEBNREERBESREET 1895

Usgge . Residential

& =

Site area : Approximately 11,000 square metres

AT #)11,000%F 75 K

Construction floor area  : Approximately 65,000 square metres

BEEE A #165,000°F 75 2K

Group's interegL : 100%

NS B P ib R 5

Expected construction  : Completed

completion date B®T

FE R T B 87

MAJOR
INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

China Minmetals Tower H

mAE

LKF 29

Location . 79 Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui, Location : 29 Wyndham Street, Central, Hong Kong
24 Kowloon, Fﬁopjg Kong i i B BEREPRERG =T 5%
BEARLSERRER LT NF e Commerc
Usgge . Commercial A&
Gk EES Lease term . Long term
Lease term : Medium term THE EAPR EHE
HE R i
T _=FR 021 TEMEFRAE

\
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
B e

I am pleased to present to you the report of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

RESULTS

In 2023, the situation in the real estate industry remained difficult. The
Group adhered to prudent operations to ensure reliable development
to cope with the continued challenges in the industry. In 2023, the
Group's consolidated revenue was HKS$12,631 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of 25.5%; net loss of the year decreased by 61.3%
to HK$526 million (2022: HKS$1,360 million); loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company decreased by 25.4% to HK$1,016 million (2022:
HKS$1,362 million); core loss* attributable to equity holders of the
Company amounted to HK$44 million (2022: profit of HK$107 million).
The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: no dividend),
retaining more cash to cope with the uncertain market challenges and
future development needs.

* “Core loss/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company” excludes allowance
for impairment of inventories, share of impairment of inventories of associates and
joint ventures, exchange losses, fair value changes on investment properties,

allowance/reversal for impairment of receivables and other receivables.

KATRAR BTREAREBEE_T_=
FTRA=1T—BHBLEFEZHRSE -

Sz
E

RO =F BHETERBERARRK - A&
BESBREEHRARLEERABHITED

SERE - —E-_=F KXEBEHFEE KA
126311878 7T + R R 255% ; Eﬂqaﬂéﬂéuﬁz
E613% 2526188 (ZEZ—F : 1360187

SRR N ﬂﬂx%%ﬁ}\%faﬁﬂauﬁezszx%i
1006BBIL(ZE_F 1 136288 7L) + &
/‘ﬂH&%ﬁ*ﬁAﬁ%mz/DEﬁ%ﬁ*?%o.ztﬂ%ﬁi%ﬁ
(_7__ CRANIEABT) cEETERE
ER-_E-_=Ft+=A=+— Eitifz
KHHJ&L%(_?__E EIRE) IWNRERS
Re BETHPAMSEKBMBRERME -

* [ R AR EFFA AR EHE 5 F | T 8577
ERERE DB ERFAREERFNFER
18 - [ER R
R E N JE AR

REYREZ DA BIEZE) - ERIR
160 B 5 1 1
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MARKET AND OPERATION REVIEW

Achieving steady growth in real estate development
business

During the year under review, despite the short-term boost to the real
estate market driven by the continued introduction of various
supportive policies, the overall market remained sluggish. According to
statistics from the China Index Academy, sales of the top 100 real
estate companies fell by 11.7% year-on-year, and the commercial
housing market remained weak. In early 2023, the property market
represented by core Tier 1 and Tier 2 cities had been picking up
significantly, which was spurred on by the release of a wave of pent-up
demand with the relaxation of pandemic control and favourable
policies. However, transaction activity soon slowed down in the second
quarter. The market sentiment and recovery momentum weakened
noticeably due to shrinking supply and diminishing demand.
Subsequently, in late August and early September, the four core Tier 1
cities including Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou and Shenzhen
successively rolled out the mortgage policy of “determined by houses
but not loans’, followed by Tier 2 cities such as Chengdu, Wuhan,
Nanjing, Suzhou and other core Tier 2 cities. The market ushered in
another brief recovery in the fourth quarter as the apparent stimulus
effect brought by the policy. Subsequently, the market saw a pullback
again due to persistent weakness in housing demand.

Given the market downturn, the Group actively reviewed changes in
the industry and policy landscape, focused on Tier 1 and Tier 2 cities,
and adopted targeted sales strategies in a timely manner. During the
year, we took advantage of multiple window periods such as the short
boom in the first quarter and policy improvements in September to
achieve contracted sales of RMB11.30 billion; the gross profit margin of
the real estate development business increased by 5.6 percentage
points year-on-year. On the other hand, the Group remained cautious
towards investments. Against the backdrop of the ups and downs in
the real estate market, the Group did not invest in new land during the
year in order to maintain the Group's liquidity and prevent risks.

In addition to residential projects, the Group has also been actively
developing industrial projects. In 2022, the Group acquired an industrial
land of 83 mu in Nan'an at the reserve price and planned to build a
number of standardized factories. The main construction of the factory
based on sales-led production and industrial investment promotion
work is currently underway, with an objective to attract leading valve
and fire safety manufacturers and high-quality growing valve-
supporting enterprises to establish their presence there. At present,
more than half of the contracted area has been signed.

EE et 025
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
BR800

Innovation and change in commercial projects

In addition, performance of the Group's commercial projects has
steadily improved by pursuit of innovation and changes. During the
year, LKF29 and China Minmetals Tower in Hong Kong respectively
carried out lobby renovation works and re-planned floor unit areas,
effectively enhancing market competitiveness and driving revenue from
the property investment business to increase by 21.4% year-on-year.
The small town of Huizhou in China optimized its tourism products
during the year and became a benchmark for local cultural tourism
projects; Changsha-Live (Phase Il) and Taian-Live have realized brand
adjustment and upgrade, proactively eliminated inefficient merchants,
and introduced well-known brands; it also organized innovative
activities such as bazaars, celebrity meetings and technology brand
launches, driving annual passenger traffic to increase by 82.8% and
69.0% respectively.

Steady development of property management
business

During the year, the Group actively expanded its business, successfully
undertook a number of internal and external projects, and significantly
increased its area under management. At the same time, the Group
continued to optimize operational management and value-added
businesses. With its excellent service level, the Group received a
number of industry awards, including “2023 Top 100 Property
Enterprises in respect of Service Satisfaction in China”, “2023 Top 500
Property Management Companies in China in terms of Overall
Strength” and ‘“Leading Red Property Services Company in China’,
continuously enhancing its brand value and popularity.

Safeguarding the safety of funds

In 2023, industry risks continued to escalate and companies
experienced frequent defaults. Given the financial risks brought about
by the continued industry downturn, the Group took the initiative to
ensure the safety and stability of the financial situation, seized the
opportunities from the temporary market recovery in the first quarter,
and arranged re-financing in advance. The Group successfully organized
an offshore three-year club loan of HK$970 million and a one-year
revolving loan facility of RMB1,000 million, safeguarding the safety of
the Company's funds. In terms of onshore financing, the Group made a
non-public issuance of RMB1.2 billion of unguaranteed bonds to
domestic professional investors, actively optimized its debt structure
and stepped up its efforts in reducing the scale of offshore loans. At
the same time, in order to actively respond to the risks brought by the
continued industry downturn, the Group has laid a solid foundation for
the Company's operational security by reducing staff, increasing
efficiency, and strictly controlling expenses.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 026
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Staying committed to strategy of premium
properties

The Group has been on a steady path of high-quality development and
has made unremitting efforts to improve product quality. The Group
actively implemented the national “dual carbon” strategy and promote
sustainable development. In 2023, the Group turned the Changsha
Minmetals Plaza into a model of green building by the adoption of
more than 30 energy-saving and carbon-reducing measures with an
annual carbon reduction of 1,307 tons. The project successively
obtained Chinese Green Building Evaluation Label with certification
level of 2 stars, WELL Gold and LEED Gold certifications, effectively
increasing our project value and operating revenue. Given our excellent
product quality, the Group successively received more than ten
industry awards, including “2023 Excellent Performance of Listed
Enterprises’, “2023 Top 50 Listed Real Estate Enterprises in China in
terms of Operational Stability”, “2023 Top 100 Listed Real Estate
Enterprises in China in terms of Comprehensive Competitiveness”. The
Company’s brand influence and popularity are thus highly recognized
in the industry.

OUTLOOK

Overall, the real estate market's recovery is still closely related to the
homebuyers’ confidence and the degree of improvement in market
expectations. The real estate sales market is still facing certain pressure
in the short term. However, as China’s macro-economy grows steadily
by various supportive policies, and improving residents’ employment
and income, consumers' spending power and willingness to spend will
gradually recover. In the medium to long term, the real estate market is
expected to gradually return to stable development.

Looking ahead, the Group will adhere to the principle of seeking
progress amidst stability, take risk prevention and mitigation the
foremost task of all its work, make solving the liquidity problem the top
priority of the Company, and consider cost control as its basic work,
keep the “three bottom lines" of capital, delivery and quality, getting
through the cycle and achieving resilient growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OPERATION REVIEW

Overview

In 2023, the Chinese real estate market has regressed after a brief
recovery, and the industry situation remains grim. Confronted with
rapidly changing market and complex operating situation, the Group
adhered to a prudent business strategy and continued to strengthen
the business operation and management level for the sake of ensuring
reliable and healthy development.

During the vyear, the Group achieved consolidated revenue of
HK$12,631 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 25.5%; gross
profit margin was 17.2%, representing a year-on-year increase of 6.7
percentage points; net loss and loss attributable to equity holders of
the Company decreased by 61.3% and 25.4% to HK$526 million and
HKS$1,016 million, respectively. Loss for the year was mainly attributable
to the sluggish real estate market, the provision for impairment of
inventories for the Group's real estate development projects, as well as
the increase in finance costs as a result of increasing borrowing costs
and decreasing interest capitalisation rate.
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RBEZREN

Business Development

(—) FHEZRE

(1)  Real Estate Development

Contracted Sales

In 2023, the property market was still yet to fully recover as
buyers’ confidence in home ownership remained low despite
extended easing measures introduced by the Chinese
government. China’s real estate sales market experienced an
upsurge followed by a downturn. The property market saw a
short boom at the beginning of the year. However, this trend has
not been able to continue and the market has cooled off swiftly
since the second quarter. The market performance during the
“Golden Nine and Silver Ten” fell short of expectations, and the
overall recovery momentum was insufficient.

The contracted sales of the Company together with its
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in 2023 decreased by
15.0% year-on-year to RMB11.30 billion (2022: RMB13.30 billion)
whilst the gross floor area (“GFA”") contracted for sale decreased
by 0.9% year-on-year to 555,000 square meters (2022: 560,000
square meters). The Group's contracted sales were mainly derived
from the real estate development projects in Tier 1 and core Tier
2 cities.
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The contracted sales breakdown was listed as below:

BRHEBEBRT -

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-HLEE

2023 2022
“E-CH “E-F
Contracted Contracted Contracted Contracted
amount GFA amount GFA
Location it B EHNEE GHEREER EHEE AHNEEEHER
(RMB million) (sq.m.) (RMB million) (sq.m.)
(AREBER) (FrK) (ARBRER) (FHXK)
Pan Bohai Rim RYEE 3,955 162,121 4,087 177,884
Yangtze River Delta R=-AR 2,014 67,023 3,890 94,089
Central China Region Ehie 1,540 132,194 1360 125,793
Chengdu-Chongging Region gl 1,238 86,483 753 64,536
Pearl River Delta h=AtE
(including Hong Kong) (BEEHR) 2,549 107,126 3211 97,73
Total st 11,296 554,947 13301 559,575
(2) Specialised Construction (Z) BEXEZEFE
The Group is engaged in the business of specialised construction REERBEBMBELE AR HER
mainly comprising the services of design, production and TRERER AT JEEEAER 2
installation of curtain walls in the Hong Kong market, with iconic WMHIEEBREETRAANLIEEY
projects including but not limited to West Kowloon Palace £ BFARKH R - EIEO R R
Museum, Ocean Park Water World, Liantang Port and Xiqu R
Centre.
In recent years, the Group has continued to optimise its MEAEEFERLEBRE  BERH
operating structure and proactively modified its business BEBAM - RBEAEERRERSTD
direction. For this reason, the Group has adopted a relatively RAEREE - FELAMBRARIES) o F Lt -
conservative bidding strategy to strengthen risk control. FRREFREFNIEL - BHEKHER
Therefore, no new projects were undertaken during the year, but FRFERBERINAEREGE HES
the Group continued to maintain a sound cooperative KRR EHEE o
relationship with local developers with ongoing efforts in seeking
good development opportunities.
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(3)

Property Investment

The Group's property investment business primarily comprises
two commercial office buildings in Hong Kong, namely China
Minmetals Tower in Tsimshatsui and LKF29 in Central. As at 31
December 2023, LKF29 recorded an occupancy rate of 91.8%
(2022: 93.2%), edged down by 1.4% year-on-year. In the second
half of 2022, China Minmetals Tower underwent renovation and
replanning of space for leasing to enhance its market
competitiveness. With the market sentiment fuelled by
favourable measures such as border reopening in 2023, the
Group had the units leased out successfully with the occupancy
rate reached 91.9 % (2022: 63.2%), representing a year-on-year
increase of 28.7%.
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Land Bank T i

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total developable GFA (‘land RZ-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—H AEBE&H
Bank”) amounted to 6,667,000 square meters. The composition of the — A]FAZMIAEEE S ([ L EE#E |) 56,667,000
Group's Land Bank was listed as below: FHK e RER L EFHARDT ¢

Percentage share

City Tier 19T AR B Land Bank of Land Bank
h e
T b S Bo

('000 sg.m.)

(FF73K)
First tier cities — R T 1,873 28.1%
Second tier cities ZEEm 2,549 38.2%
Third tier cities =5 ¥ 2,245 33.7%
Total et 6,667 100.0%

Percentage share

Location i 24 Land Bank of Land Bank
18 £ o S
T i Bo

('000 sg.m.)

(FFF7K)
Pan Bohai Rim IRE) S H & 2,178 32.7%
Yangtze River Delta R=AE 278 42%
Central China Region i@ 1472 22.1%
Chengdu-Chongqing Region B = 1318 19.7%
Pearl River Delta (including Hong Kong) H=—AE (BEEHE) 1,421 21.3%
Total wst 6,667 100.0%
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Products and Services

Changsha Experimental Primary School settled in Wanjing
Yayuan

Minmetals Land’s “Wanjing Series” products not only attach importance
to the humanistic spirit, but also the build-up of educational facilities.
The Wanjing Yayuan project realizes the cooperation between state-
owned enterprises and elite schools by joining hands with the
Changsha County People’s Government, Changsha Experimental
Primary School, and Changsha County Education Bureau to create a
distinctive and high-quality school for basic education. The name of the
co-founded school is proposed to be “Changsha Experimental Primary
School — Songya School”, which is only one street away from the
Wanjing Yayuan project, providing owners with high-quality education
within easy reach and making new contributions to the development
of education in Changsha County.

Strengthen Design and Research and Development

The Group stepped up efforts in research and development and
innovation and won the Elite Science and Technology Award with its
innovated and upgraded 5M product system and digital marketing
system. The Group has implemented the national development strategy
and took the lead in the research and development on the topic of
"Key Technologies and Demonstration of High-Efficiency Standardised
Steel Structure Houses” with MCC CRIBC and other sister units,
achieving medium-term results ahead of schedule. Together with
WISDRI, the Group obtained two national patents with independent
intellectual property rights, marking a milestone achievement in
innovation.
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Enhance Brand Influence

In 2023, the Group continued to uphold the brand proposition of
“Love, Family, Minmetals”, further consolidate brand building,
strengthen public recognition of Minmetals Land's brand, fostering
Minmetals Land to transform and upgrade into an urban operator. At
the same time, the Group further promote its corporate image and
successively received more than ten industry honors, including but not
limited to “2023 Excellent Performance of Listed Enterprises’, “2023 Top
50 Listed Real Estate Enterprises in China in terms of Operational
Stability”, “2023 Top 100 Listed Real Estate Enterprises in China in terms
of Comprehensive Competitiveness”, showing that the Company’s
brand influence and popularity are highly recognised in the industry.
Meanwhile, the Group also received a number of industry awards, such
as “2023 Top 100 Property Enterprises in respect of Service Satisfaction
in China", 2023 Top 500 Property Management Companies in China in
terms of Overall Strength” and “Leading Red Property Services
Company in China”, continuously enhancing its brand value and

popularity.
Entrusted Asset Management

During the year, the Group recorded a management service income of
RMB2.40 million under the entrusted management service agreement,
of which China Minmetals entrusted the Company with the
management of its non-listed assets within its real estate development
segment, including real estate development projects in Beijing, Tianjin,
Shenyang, Liaoning, Jiangsu, Hunan and Guangdong.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue was primarily derived from three business
segments, namely real estate development, specialised construction
and property investment. The Group’s consolidated revenue in 2023
amounted to HK$12,631 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
25.5% as compared to HK$10,065 million last year.
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The Group's consolidated revenue breakdown was listed as below:

AEEGARAZBRAOT :

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t=-A=1+—HLEE

2023 2022
—E-= —=EF=-=

Percentage Percentage
HK$ share of HKS share of Year-on-year
million revenue million revenue change

(=T ON L @N

BERAT Bolk BBEET Btk  RFE

Real estate development EEERE 12,308 97.4% 9,875 98.1% +24.6%
Specialised construction g = 272 2.2% 148 1.5% +83.8%
Property investment MEKRE 51 0.4% 42 0.4% +21.4%
Total st 12,631 100.0% 10,065 100.0% +25.5%

Revenue from the real estate development business increased by
24.6% year-on-year to HK$12,308 million (2022: HK$9,875 million), and
accounted for 97.4% of the Group’s consolidated revenue. The year-on-
year increase in revenue from real estate development business was
driven by the handover and recognition of some real estate
development projects in the Pearl River Delta in 2023. Gross profit
margin of the real estate development business increased by 5.6
percentage points year-on-year to 17.5% (2022: 11.9%), which was
primarily due to a higher proportion of real estate development
projects with higher gross profit margins from the Pearl River Delta
recognised during the year.

Revenue from the specialised construction business increased by 83.8%
year-on-year to HK$272 million (2022: HK$148 million) and accounted
for 2.2% of the Group's consolidated revenue. The significant increase
in revenue from the specialised construction business after the return
to normalcy was primarily attributable to a rise in completion of the
projects under construction by working against the clock vigorously.

Revenue from the property investment business increased by 21.4%
year-on-year to HK$51 million (2022: HK$42 million), and accounted for
0.4% of the Group's consolidated revenue. Revenue from the property
investment business was mainly generated from two commercial
buildings in Hong Kong, and the increase in revenue was primarily due
to the Group’s success in renting out most of the vacant units with
growing rental income, riding on the favourable news such as the
reopening of borders between Mainland China and Hong Kong in
2023. Gross profit margin of the property investment business
decreased by 1.4 percentage points year-on-year to 655% (2022
66.9%), mainly attributable to the increase in operating costs during the
year due to building maintenance and repair works.
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The Group’s overall gross profit margin increased to 17.2% from 10.5%
of the corresponding period last year, mainly due to the higher gross
profit margins as compared to the corresponding period last year of
the products recognised for the real estate development business
during the year.

Other Income

The Group's other income was HK$104 million (2022: HK$127 million),
representing a year-on-year decrease of 18.1%, mainly due to the
significant year-on-year decrease in dividend income during the year.

Fair Value Changes on Investment Properties

The Group's fair value loss on investment properties for the year was
HK$2.284 million (2022: HKS$69 million),
decrease of 96.7%. Despite the rising occupancy rates underpinned by
the border reopening as well as the return of business and societal

representing a year-on-year

normality during the year, the market rental levels of renewed and
newly leased properties were still under pressure as the market had not
yet fully recovered, resulting in fair value loss on investment properties
in Hong Kong.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

The Group's selling and marketing expenses was HK$416 million (2022:
HK$395 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 5.3%, mainly
due to the increase in sales commissions and related marketing
expenses due to the increase in recognised revenue related to the real
estate development business during the year.

Administrative and Other Expenses

The Group's administrative and other expenses was HK$589 million
(2022: HKS582 million), which is similar to that in 2022. Administrative
and other expenses mainly comprised of the Group’s staff
remuneration of HK$279 million, which represented 47.4% of the total
administrative and other expenses.

Provision for Impairment of Inventories
The real estate market was sluggish during the year, and some of the
Group's projects generally experienced varying degrees of price decline.

The Group made a provision of HK$503 million for the impairment of
inventories with signs of impairment (2022: HK$550 million).
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Impairment loss under expected credit loss model,
net

The Group made a provision of HK$174 million for the impairment of
other receivables with signs of impairment, mainly due to the expected
credit loss of other receivables related to an individual joint venture.

Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs charged to the statement of profit or loss
was HKS$477 million (2022: HKS$138 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of 245.7%, mainly due to the rising finance costs and declining
interest capitalisation rate during the year.

Share of Results of Associates

The Group's share of loss of associates was HK$210 million (2022:
HKS$786 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 73.3%. Such
loss was attributable to the impairment of inventories made by an
associate in response to market conditions during the year.

Share of Results of Joint Ventures

The Group's share of profit of joint ventures was HK$34 million (2022:
HK$138 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 75.4%, mainly
due to the shrinking recognition scale of an individual joint venture
located in Yangtze River Delta, decreasing its profit contribution to the
Group accordingly during the year.

Loss and Core Loss Attributable to Equity Holders of
the Company

In view of the above, the Group’s net loss was HK$526 million (2022:
HKS$1,360 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 61.3%. The
loss attributable to equity holders of the Company was HKS$1,016
million (2022: HKS$1,362 million), representing a year-on-year decrease
of 25.4%. Core loss attributable to equity holders of the Company' was
HKS$44 million (2022: profit of HK$107 million). The basic loss per share
was HK30.34 cents (2022: HK40.71 cents).

Note:

1. “Core loss/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company” excludes allowance
for impairment of inventories, share of impairment of inventories of associates and
joint ventures, exchange losses, fair value changes on investment properties, and
allowance/reversal for impairment of receivables and other receivables.
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Financial Position

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's total assets decreased by 20.5%
to HKS$53,575 million (2022: HKS$67,387 million) whilst net assets
decreased by 14.7% to HK$14,348 million (2022: HK$16,812 million). The
decrease in net assets was mainly attributable to the distribution of
dividends from various cooperative projects to shareholders during the
year, of which HKS$1,199 million was distributed to non-controlling
shareholders, as well as the loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company of HK$1,016 million and the decrease in exchange reserves of
HK$266 million during the year.

The contract liabilities, which mainly represent pre-sale proceeds
received by the Group that will subsequently be recognised as the
Group's revenue when presold properties are completed and delivered
to buyers. During the year, the Group's contract liabilities decreased by
50.0% to HKS$5,707 million (2022: HK$11,416 million), which was mainly
due to the Group's recognised revenue exceeding the receipt from new
contracted sales during the year.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s gearing ratio (total liabilities to
total assets) was 73.2% (2022: 75.1%). The gearing ratio, net of contract
liabilities and deferred revenue, was 69.9% (2022: 69.8%). The net
gearing ratio (net debt to total equity) was 138.0% (2022: 94.5%).

During the year, the Group’s working capital was mainly derived from
cash flows generated from business operations and borrowings.

In terms of offshore financing, the Group entered into a 3-year term
club loan agreement amounted to HK$970 million and a 1-year term
revolving loan agreement amounted to RMB1,000 million in 2023
respectively, the loan proceeds of which were used for refinancing and
supplementing working capital. In terms of onshore financing, the
Group issued bonds of RMB1,200 million to domestic professional
investors in a non-public offering. The Group continues to give full play
to its competitive advantage as a listed flagship in Hong Kong, adheres
to prudent financial management principles and maintains stable
financial strength by enhancing cash flow and liquidity.
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Total borrowings of the Group stood at HKS$23,317 million (2022:
HK$24,309 million) as at 31 December 2023, which mainly comprised
borrowings from banks and bonds. The year-on-year decrease in total  JT) -
borrowings was primarily due to the repayment of construction loans,
corporate loans and loans from non-controlling shareholders of real
estate projects during the year. The Group’'s weighted average
borrowing costs increased by 0.9 percentage points to 5.0% (2022:

4.1%).

The maturity profile of the Group’s borrowings was as follows:

AEBRZZEZ=F+A=1+—HZER
HEER23317EEBIL (ZE 2 2F 24300185
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BRAH - AEB 2 MEFHEEXNA A
0B DB ZE50% (=T =4F : 41%) °

AEEZEREPBERMOT

31 December 2022
—E-F+=ZA=+—H

31 December 2023
—E-_=F+=-H=+—H

Percentage Percentage
share of share of
HK$ million borrowings HKS million borrowings

BEEBT HEREIH BEET EEXBENL

Within one year —FR
In the second year FF
In the third to fifth year F=FEERF

Total wat

The currency profile of the Group’s borrowings was as follows:

15,223 65.3% 7,132 29.3%
2,077 8.9% 6,717 27.6%
6,017 25.8% 10,460 43.1%

23,317 100.0% 24,309 100.0%

AEBZBEREEBEROT

31 December 2022
—E-ZF+=ZA=+—H

31 December 2023
—®-=f+=p=+-H

Percentage Percentage
share of share of
HK$ million borrowings HKS million borrowings

BEEBT HEREIH BEET EEXBEDL

Hong Kong Dollar BT
Renminbi AR
United States Dollar ETT
Total et

During the year, the finance cost recognised in the statement of profit
or loss amounted to HK$477 million (2022: HK$138 million) after
capitalisation of HK$886 million (2022: HK$823 million) into properties

under development.

11,271 48.3% 15317 63.0%
7,359 31.6% 5,686 23.4%
4,687 20.1% 3,306 13.6%
23,317 100.0% 24,309 100.0%
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and bank deposits
(excluding restricted cash and bank deposits) amounted to HKS$3,411
million (2022: HK$7,701 million), of which 93.7%, 5.9% and 0.4% (2022:
97.7%, 1.9% and 0.4%) were denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong
dollar and United States dollar respectively. The unutilised banking
facilities of the Group as at 31 December 2023 amounted to HKS$6,996
million (2022: HK$7,141 million).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES AND INTEREST RATES

Exchange Rate Risk

The Group conducts its business primarily in Mainland China with the
external financing being denominated mainly in Hong Kong dollar
while revenue is denominated mainly in Renminbi. The Group is
exposed to exchange rate risk as transactions are denominated in a
currency other than Hong Kong dollar (the reporting and functional
currency of the Company). The Group has been closely monitoring the
fluctuation in Renminbi exchange rate and has considered necessary
measures, including adjustment to the proportion of borrowings in
foreign currencies and utilisation of foreign exchange hedging
instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts or capped
forward contracts to minimise the impact arising from exchange rate
fluctuation.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk resulting from
fluctuation in interest rates. Most of the Group’s borrowings bear a
floating rate and therefore, an increase in interest rate would raise the
Group's finance costs. In order to mitigate the interest rate risk, the
Group entered into an interest rate swap contract in which the Group
would receive interest of one-month HIBOR and pay monthly interest at
a fixed rate based on the notional amount of HK$1.0 billion. As at 31
December 2023, 27.6% (2022: 23.0%) of the Group's borrowings were
on a fixed rate basis with the remainder on a floating rate basis.

As at 31 December 2023, save as disclosed above, the Group did not

have/held any financial instruments for hedging or speculative
purposes.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 December 2023, certain assets of the Group were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group and mortgage
loan facilities to the purchasers of the Group’s properties, and these
pledged assets of the Group included:

inventories with carrying amounts of HK$13,515 million (2022:
HKS$12,729 million);

ii. property, plant and equipment with carrying amounts of HK$272
million (2022: HK$195 million);

iii. investment properties with carrying amounts of HK$274 million
(2022: HKS$186 million); and

iv. 100% equity interest in a subsidiary.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to purchasers of the Group's properties amounted to
HK$7,051 million (2022: HKS$8,919 million). Such guarantees will
terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of the property ownership
certificate (generally within one year after the purchasers take
possession of the relevant properties);
mortgage loans by the purchasers. After taking into account the net
realisable value of these properties and the low default rate, the
Directors consider that the fair value of the financial guarantee at initial

or (i) the repayment of

recognition and subsequently at the end of subsequent reporting
period is not significant.

EMPLOYEES

The total number of staff (including the Directors) of the Group,
decreased 9.7% to 1,094 (2022: 1,211) as at 31 December 2023. The
Group will continue to adopt a remuneration policy in line with market
practice where it operates. The total remuneration and benefits for the
Directors and staff of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to HK$425 million (2022: HK$468 million).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

e XAk &

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Directors and the management of the Company are committed to
and responsible for the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices. The Board has put in place a corporate governance structure
for the Company which is principally responsible for setting directions,
formulating strategies, monitoring performance and managing risks of
the Group. The respective Board committees oversee particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs and perform their distinct roles in accordance
with their respective terms of reference.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, throughout the year ended
31 December 2023, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules, except for deviations from code provisions B.2.2, C.2.1 and F.2.2.

Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. While pursuant
to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Besides, pursuant to code provision F.2.2 of the
CG Code, the chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company acts as an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the
"Group”) include real estate development, specialised construction and
property investment. As a leading real estate developer, the Group
strives to provide high quality and reliable products and services and to
create value for stakeholders through innovative and sustainable
development.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 044

\E

EREeEMREEHE S -_=F+=-A=+
—ALFEZARERRS

ARBEENEREABERNAEREKRTZ
TEER -EFCER/ARARYEE 2B
XERRE  TRAARAEEETIES - H
EREE  BERXARERER: MEFFET
ZEHZEE AAREBEARATRESE
MER  EFETRAL  RESE ZBELE
BITHERE -

TEERTA

BEERABRRRR-_E-_=F+_-_A=1+—
BItFE 2 TRER - —BE8 TR
BRC1 I EE AT AT H 2 5F Al S - HEEL ST
AESCEB 2215 » C2 TR 22065 FTim Bk &
BR AN o

RIBEEEIATRIZ TG EB22MK - B8
EX(BRAEEEHNES) EREE -
ELB=F—R -MBRELEE AT ZT
AN EC216  TRETHARNARRES
B X TEHR—ARBERE - ARECEE
SESFRIZ SPRIMGEF2216 EEEERED
FERRABFAE -

1 b B KB

ARB/—BREZERRAT - EMB AR (GE
RARRGHE[ARE]) 2 E2EXBKEEFT
EERE FXRERVERE - FR—HEL
MEBEXRRDN AKRERNIRESEER
A]SE RN EE R K AR TS - 03E B AT K AT R A B
RARMHEREEE-

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising
the Company'’s affairs. The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Company, however, are delegated to the management

of the Company.

The Board comprises nine members as at the date of this Annual

Report, the composition of which is set out below:

EXSRAAEREREARRZAL ]Ix
BEERALEBARAZEL  MAR
EEAB R AT $’AET2EI*%“%?E'E
TBREESEER -

=

RAFREE BEZShNEESHEK  FE
BN T

Sustainable
Development
Executive Remuneration Nomination Committee

Name of Directors Designation Committee  Audit Committee  Committee Committee URHERE
EEpg B HITEEE ERERE FMERE REZ8E ZEg
Mr. He Jianbo Chairman & Executive Director C M C C
fa 8% 58 & TREMTES
Mr. Liu Bo Managing Director M M

& Executive Director
RESE ESLMERNTES
Mr. Chen Xingwu Deputy Managing Director M M

& Executive Director
BR B 8 ESRBELBERITES
Mr. Yang Shangping Deputy Managing Director M

& Executive Director
BrETEE EZRBLERINTES
Ms. He Xiaoli Non-executive Director
/MBIt FRITES
Mr. Huang Guoping Non-executive Director
EERS S FRITES
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy Independent Non-executive Director M M M
MARBEEE BIkRTES
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny Independent Non-executive Director M C M
BRMELL BUFRTES
Professor Wang Xiuli Independent Non-executive Director C M M
IABARK BUFHTES
C: Chairman M: Member
C:EEM:KE
ZEZ=FH 045 TEMEFRAE
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Biographical details of Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors” and Senior Management's Profile” in this Annual Report. To
the best knowledge of the Company, there is no financial, business,
family or other material or relevant relationships amongst members of
the Board.

The Company has complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules
to have at least three Independent Non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of members of the Board and with at
least one Independent Non-executive Director possessing appropriate
accounting and financial management expertise and professional
qualifications.

The Company received written confirmations from each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors confirming their independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

All Independent Non-executive Directors hold directorships in no more
than seven listed companies (including the Company) and would be
able to devote sufficient time and attention to perform their duties.

Every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, are
subject to retirement by rotation in the manner as set out in code
provision B.2.2 of the CG Code save for the Chairman and the
Managing Director of the Company where they are not required to do
so pursuant to the Private Company Act 1981 of Bermuda under which
the Company is incorporated.

The Directors acknowledge that they have a duty to act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company and commit themselves to
spend sufficient time to perform their duties. They are also aware of
their collective and individual responsibility to Shareholders. As such,
they have taken active interest in the Company’s affairs and obtained
thorough understanding of the business of the Company.

As a variation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, Mr. He Jianbo,
an Executive Director of the Company, serves as the Chairman of the
Board. He is responsible for the overall strategic direction of the Group,
management of the Board as well as organising the management of
the Company for strategic planning and business operations thereby
enabling more effective implementation of long-term strategies. It is
believed that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
as major decisions have been made in consultation with the Board
which comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors and two
Non-executive Directors offering their experience, expertise,
independent advice and views from different perspective.
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The chairman of the board should attend the annual general meeting
as set out in code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code. However, Mr. He
Jianbo, the Chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 6 June 2023 due to other
work commitment. Mr. Liu Bo, the Executive Director and the General
Manager of the Company, chaired the meeting on behalf of the
Chairman of the Board and was available to answer questions.

The Company has established “Mechanisms Ensuring Independent
Views Available to the Board” for directors of the Company to seek
independent professional advice in the discharge of their duties and
responsibilities, and to ensure that independent views and input are
available to the Board. The Board will review the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanisms annually.

The Company enables the Directors, upon request, to seek advice from
independent professional advisers at the Company's expense in the
process of discharging their duties. The Company has also arranged for
appropriate directors and officers liability insurance in respect of legal
action against Directors arising from corporate activities.

During the year, a total of four physical Board meetings and two
general meetings were held. Notice of regular Board meetings is given
at least fourteen days in advance. The attendance of Directors during
their tenure of office in 2023 is as follows:

BMAEERTAZTRGXEF225 EFE
ITFEEERRAEFAS - HEEFSIFM
BN EEREMTERFERELFEARAR
TEC=FRARBRTZBRRBFEREG -
HITEFSRARAEFALERIRAERK
EEeIFRERERLANG LOEER -

ARARCRIV [ HREFENFH LB K
Bl AFARRDEERBTBRELEENS
KBUEXER BMREFSAEIELE
HERBER EFEEHNEBFRIRSIHIZE
Ha AR Ko BOAR

ARFIAEEEER  RHBETEXERRA
HEMRBIYEXER UHBTHEEER
B FIAEABARAXN  RARNRE LY
HENEENSRAERABZEERR &
EZRNTAREBMaIBUARFAEFE
& -

ARARRFRABITTOREFEEH MR
BRAE  -EZCTHERIBNE  ORE
BBTAMNESTHREARERES - &
EERN T =FHELRERZBRAT

Number of meetings attended/held

HEBITEERE

Board Meeting General Meeting
Name of Directors ESHE g BRXE
Mr. He Jianbo Al 108 58 4 4/4 0/2
Mr. Liu Bo R & 3/4 2/2
Mr. Chen Xingwu BoR 8L I 5 A 4/4 2/2
Mr. Yang Shangping L 4/4 2/2
Ms. He Xiaoli ]/ NBR L 4/4 2/2
Mr. Huang Guoping HEHFILE 4/4 2/2
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy PR B o A 4/4 2/2
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny ek PN 4/4 2/2
Professor Wang Xiuli FHEHK 4/4 2/2
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On appointment to the Board, the newly appointed Director receives a
comprehensive induction package and training covering the Company's
constitutional documents, internal policies, guidance and procedures as
well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a
Director to ensure that he/she is thoroughly aware of his/her
responsibility under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulations.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments or updates to
the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and other regulatory
regimes. The Company provides monthly reports to Directors which
contain updates on business development and financial information of
the Group. During the year, the Company arranged in-house training
sessions on anti-corruption management and regulatory updates and
issues for the Directors, conducted by The Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development.
The individual training record of Directors for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out below:

ENMAZEEER HEZSESHFEOAR
BEREIEI - REARRASERRXXT - AED
B eI REFARERESTHE R AR
LREERESETHMARTEETZER
PARE R B8 75 B AR H 00 B 7T AR A1 e A 4 B
EERIITZEE-

BN - ERTEMEMN EWRA - REER
REMBREPINEFTRERNER - AR
ANEEARNEEREAKESTETER
LEEERZEE - RAFEAR - RRATL
BTHEAEZRENEERRBHARES
BB NBEHEEEN R EEOHAIEIRE o

FAESHASARBEEXERE - &
E-T-_=F+tA=t+ALGFE BE
2l eEmT

Attending expert

briefings,
Briefings & seminars &
updates on conferences
business and/or reading
operations & materials of the
compliance seminars
matters HESEBE -
FREKEER WHEkRE
HEEEZE®R &k /HREE
Name of Directors - REHFER g
Executive Directors: BITES:
Mr. He Jianbo fa] &% %2 4 v v
Mr. Liu Bo B2 e v/ v
Mr. Chen Xingwu PoR L I 5 A v/ v
Mr. Yang Shangping B FEE v/ v
Non-executive Directors: FEHITES :
Ms. He Xiaoli A/ NELZ L v/ v
Mr. Huang Guoping FEFLELE v/ v
Independent Non-executive Directors: BV FHITES :
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy PRAR B S A v v
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny OB T v/ v/
Professor Wang Xiuli FHEEH v v
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has established a set of guidelines as its own “Rules and
Procedures for Directors and Relevant Employees of the Company in
respect of Dealings in Securities of the Company” (the “Rules for
Securities Transactions”) on terms no less exacting than those
contained in the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiries, all the Directors have confirmed
in writing that they have complied with the Rules for Securities
Transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing financial
statements that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and its results and cash flows for the relevant financial period.
The Directors are also responsible for the timely publication of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023,
statements had been prepared in accordance with the statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards, made judgments

the Directors confirmed that the consolidated financial

and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable, and the
consolidated financial statements had been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Directors confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, they are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement made by Ernst & Young, the independent auditor of the
Company, about their reporting responsibility on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” in this Annual
Report.
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The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group and, through the Audit Committee, for reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems so as to protect Shareholders' interest
and safeguard the Group's assets. The Board has authorised the
management to design, implement and maintain its risk management
and internal control systems by clearly defining responsibility, authority
and accountability. Under the guidance of the Audit Committee, the
Internal Audit Department of the Company monitors the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting independent
reviews.

The Board acknowledges that effective risk management and internal
control are essential for business growth and sustainability of the Group
in the long-term. The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

A. Risk Management Framework

The Group adopts a “top-down” and “bottom-up” approach
whereby the three lines of defence of business units, the
management and the Internal Audit Department working
together to identify, assess and manage significant risks at
corporate, operational and functional aspects.

Each business unit and its management team are responsible for
managing its own risks in the course of daily operations. It
requires the identifying, measuring and monitoring of the
management measures of individual risk to ensure that it is
within the risk appetite of the Group. It also requires the
implementation of risk management plans as recommended by
the Internal Audit Department and the Audit Committee to
address those significant risks that may affect business
operations.
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The Audit Committee together with the Internal Audit
Department and management regularly monitor and update the
Group's risk profile and appetite. By reviewing business and
operation reports from Internal Audit Department and the
management, the Audit Committee assists the Board to oversee
the risk management and internal control systems on an
on-going bases and review its effectiveness with the Internal
Audit Department.

Under the direction of the Audit Committee, the Internal Audit
Department follows a risk-oriented approach to furnish annual
internal audit plan. The Internal Audit Department performs
internal audit works and furnishes report findings to the Audit
Committee that provide the Audit Committee with independent
and objective assessment on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The
major internal audit works of the year include audit reviews of
operations, controlling mechanism, legal compliance and
compliance of internal rules and regulations. Special attention
was given to matters involving significant risks or changes.

Internal audit reports are presented at the Audit Committee
meetings. Major findings and recommendation are followed up
and reported to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. Minutes
of the Audit Committee meetings are then tabled at Board
meetings to report the Audit Committee’s findings on risk
management and internal control issues such as changes in the
nature and extent of significant risks since the last review, those
newly identified significant risks that require the attention of the
Board, and the recommendation or opinion on management’s
response thereto.

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information in accordance with its “Policy on Disclosure of Inside
Information” to ensure that inside information remains
confidential until such time as it is disclosed and disseminated in
an efficient and consistent manner.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

M EE R
B. Significant Risks and Control Measures BEXERBREZEER

Significant risks have been identified through the process of risk
identification and assessment. A summary of the significant risks
of the Group together with the relevant internal control
measures imposed during the year is listed below.

a.

Market Risk

Market risk is the key challenge of the Group. All of the
Group's residential and commercial property development
and investment in Mainland China are subject to risks
associated with the PRC property market such as policy
change, demand-supply rebalance, change in general
economic conditions and availability of financing which
may pose an adversely affected on the Group's financial
and operation condition.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is another significant risk identified by the
Group during the year. The events of default caused by
purchasers and strategic partners together with human
error and system inadequacies or failure can have an
impact on the Group's operations, resulting in financial
loss, litigation, and reputational damage.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board, through the Audit Committee, reviews the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems. The Audit Committee instructs
the Internal Audit Department to carry out independent
reviews to assess the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems.
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The management of the business units annually review
and update their risk registers to ensure that effective
controls are in place. They also conduct self-assessment on
internal control and confirm that appropriate internal
control policies and procedures have been established and
are being properly followed. Having regard to the Group’s
risk appetite (i.e. the extent of risk the Group is willing to
take in pursuit of its strategic and business objectives), the
Audit Committee reviews the following with reference to
the assessment made by the management and the
Internal Audit Department to assess the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems:

a. the provision of timely and comprehensive
information to the Audit Committee and the Board
to enable effective assessment of the monitoring
measures within the Group such as the reliability of
financial reporting, the compliance with applicable
laws, rules and regulations and the effectiveness of
risk management;

b. reviewing internal audit reports to ascertain the
efficiency in rectifying internal control deficiencies and
status of the implementation of recommendation
provided by the Internal Audit Department; and

C. reviewing management reports to assess the key
business risk and the management’s response to
changes in the Group's business and external
environment.

The Audit Committee initiates or as delegated by the
Board, directs independent investigations of significant
internal control deficiencies and reviews the findings and
the management’s feedback thereon.

Based on the assessments made by the management and
the Internal Audit Department and taking into account the
audit work performed by the independent auditor, the
Board and the Audit Committee consider that no
significant areas of concern in respect of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems were identified
during the year of 2023.

Based on the review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems performed
during the year, the Board considers such systems to be
effective and adequate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
e RERTE:

A.

BOARD COMMITTEES EEE2ZES
Audit Committee A. BEXZEES
All the members of the Audit Committee are Independent EREEENBEHRABIUINITES
Non-executive Directors. The Audit Committee is principally EFZBEAR  VHAEE 20
responsible for reviewing (i) the effectiveness of the financial PEIRIZ 7 A R R E I IR EBESIE R4
reporting procedures and risk management and internal control ZBEBME (VELZEMEE - R
systems of the Group; (i) the appointment of independent HITEBEMIELS  Ri)E R
auditor and the efficiency and quality of their work; and (iii) all B REUNEEEHZERENNE
internal audit reports as well as management feedback on such BR
reports.
The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year. The ERZEGRFARTTREEH &
attendance of the members of the Audit Committee is as MELEEHRIBRAOT
follows:

Attendance

Members of the Audit Committee EREEERE R E
Professor Wang Xiuli — Chairman FTEEBHEE — R 3/3
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy Nl e 3/3
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny BEMS L 3/3

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

The major tasks accomplished by the Audit Committee during
the year are summarised as follows:

a. reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, the
independent auditor’s letter to the management and the
annual results announcement, and made recommendation
to the Board for approval;

b. reviewed the interim financial information of the Group for
the six months ended 30 June 2023 and the interim
results announcement, and made recommendation to the
Board for approval;

C. reviewed the management recommendation furnished by
the independent auditor and the response from the
management;
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reviewed the audit strategy provided by the independent
auditor and made recommendation to the Board for the
independent auditor's appointment, remuneration and
terms of engagement on audit services for the year ended
31 December 2023;

reviewed and made recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the
independent auditor for non-audit services;

reviewed with the management the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group;

oversaw the implementation of the Group’s risk
management framework and assisted the Board in
conducting independent evaluation of the effectiveness of
the Group's financial reporting procedures and risk
management and internal control systems;

ensured that the management has fulfilled its duty to
establish and maintain effective risk management and
internal control systems including adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff working in the
Group's accounting and financial reporting function;

reviewed the top-tier risks of the Group and recommended
actions to mitigate those risks;

furnished opinions to the management on risks associated
with significant matters of the Group;

reviewed internal audit reports prepared by the Internal
Audit Department, provided guidelines for internal audit
planning and reporting, and ensured that the internal
audit function was provided with adequate resources to
discharge its responsibility; and

reviewed the changes (where applicable) to the procedures
for monitoring connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions and the whistleblowing
mechanism.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on

the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and

the Company at www.minmetalsland.com.

—TZ=FR

055

A8\

d EBHEBYZHMRERLBEE-ZE=
ZFF+ A=+ —HLEFEZE
MR WAEEERBILIZE
MR —_E-=F+=-A=+—H
I BRFEREZBERE 2B
T FERERGGREER

e. BEHEMEBIUZEMBHIEZE
AR 75 2 % Bl K2 B AR ik 4 - S TR B
EeRbES:

f 1S EBR T ANEEBRMNZ S5t
,\J&Lﬁ%?

##‘

g9 BHEASEEBREZEERNH
T-UIBBhEEERAEETK
BEE SR AR i LA B [l B B T2 R P P B
ERG AR EITE L

h HBREEEBRTELRAEREN
MR EE R A EPE 1R R A B
B ETEERRASEARHN
R L‘A&E%/—\EW%D%@QZ
B B #1717 & 5T S B 7% [ ¥R B BE
tE

SR ANEE 2 HESRRERKF
BB B8 B &F 42 e

. BAKREEAFHEZIMEERRS

\;/l{m EE%TET/\L/E_/

k. EHAEEABERZNIER
WE - WARNEERTFRANEER
FHEtEI AR E B Sl AR
RAEETBEESEHNE
R WREARENE - &

BRYUERHERHRFEBER
SHRFRIEFEREENES
(@ m)

Ei%ZE B2 B & [E 1 PO B 2 P A ub
www.hkexnews.hk & 28 2~ 7] 49 u4
www.minmetalsland.comZ& § o

ARBERRDA


www.minmetalsland.com
www.hkexnews.hk

>

it
o
s
<dq
ofF

B. Remuneration Committee B. FMEES
The Remuneration Committee consists of the Chairman of the YINEZEeREREETE TR R
Board and all the Independent Non-executive Directors. The BUENTES  EXEREAEMNE
Remuneration Committee is principally responsible for the review EREHEERAB ZH I MEEE T
of the remuneration mechanism and incentive scheme of the g BURKEREENABRFE N 25
Directors and senior management, and the establishment and BAGH  URSIFREBEERSEE
maintenance of a reasonable and competitive remuneration BAE-
package to attract and retain Directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee was authorised by the Board to SN EeRESEREETIITES
determine the remuneration packages of Executive Directors and RaEEBABNHMETS - IEJﬁ?F%ﬂ
senior management and make recommendation to the Board for TEENFHMESgREEH
the remuneration of Non-executive Directors.
The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year. FNEZEERNFAETT —REH &
The attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee MEREEHRBROT
is as follows:

Attendance

Members of the Remuneration Committee $MZEE K R E
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny — Chairman EoWHE L+ — EF 1/1
Mr. He Jianbo Al 818 % &= /1
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy Nl e /1
Professor Wang Xiuli FHEBEHIK 1/1
During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and FNEEERNFARRNMEZTH_Z
approved the proposals for the 2022 annual bonus and the 2023 TFERE NS =FTIERARE
annual salary adjustment. L
The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available HENE B & MR &0 [E 0] BB 2 P AR Ik
on the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and www.hkexnews.hk & A & & 48 U
the Company at www.minmetalsland.com. www.minmetalsland.com& B ¢

C. Nomination Committee C. REEET
The Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman of the RELZEENERREFELIRERDE
Board and all the Independent Non-executive Directors. The BANTES  AXZ2BBEABITE
Nomination Committee is principally responsible for formulating ENREEE DERREZAGEEE
policy on nomination of Directors and leading the process of BETEENAE RIEEFIERE
identifying and nominating candidates suitably qualified to ANBURAER U ENZEESURE
become Board members. It reviews the structure, size and EEXFERARAITHBHETTES
composition of the Board and makes recommendation to the FERNESFFRHEBER - 1o 12
Board on re-appointment of Directors as well as succession plan HEEBENERNBLIFENTEETNE
for the Chairman of the Board and the chief executive of the hyA ;30
Company. The Nomination Committee also reviews the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors.
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The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the equality of its performance. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diverse perspectives, which include
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, integrity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Nomination Committee has the
primary responsibility for the implementation of such policy and
review its effectiveness on an annual basis.

The Board also values diversity (including gender diversity) at all
levels of the Group. Details of the Group’s gender ratio, together
with relevant data, can be found in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year.
The attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee is
as follows:

EEERMNEFTENEZTIEEE
JIHEFTSREMEKE Z LM KA
M JTEE > DA INE FEFIE - BUEEANR
—RIZTBIELSEE  BEESD
RA) MR - FiR - MERBEESR - H
E BXRER X ABRREE
H-REZEERAEERZBRRNOH
17 BFRZEE - UERZBRTT
2B -

EFeNERAKERERZZ T (B
EUERIZ L) BEAKRE ZER L
2 BEREREBE - FLHARF]
BB LB RERRE -

REZBENFRABTT —REF &
REHFEEZ BT

Attendance
Members of the Nomination Committee REZEEEHK o R
Mr. He Jianbo — Chairman ABlELE — % /1
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy PR B 5 A /1
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny EOWS T 1/1
Professor Wang Xiuli FTHEBHK 1

During the vyear, the Nomination Committee reviewed the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and
the Company at www.minmetalsland.com.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee consists of all executive Directors. The
Executive Committee is principally responsible for the daily
operations of the Company, including but not limited to,
approving transactions and/or expenses in the ordinary course of
business of the Group, loans or bank facilities to be granted to
the Group and the operations of bank accounts, etc.
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e RERTE:

Sustainable Development Committee

The Sustainable Development Committee consists of the
Chairman of the Board, the Managing Director and a Deputy
Managing Director of the Company. The Sustainable
Development Committee is principally responsible for the
Group's sustainability-related matters, including formulating
sustainability strategies, identifying and managing sustainability
risks, enhancing sustainability performance, and conducting
sustainability reporting, etc.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is collectively responsible for determining the
Company's corporate governance policy and performing the
following duties:

a. to develop and review policies and practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

b. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct of the
Company; and

C. to review the Company’'s compliance of the CG Code as
well as the disclosures made in the Company’s Corporate
Governance Report.

During the vyear, the Board has reviewed the position on
compliance with the CG Code, approved the Corporate
Governance Report contained in the Company's 2023 Annual
Report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31

December 2023, Ernst & Young, the

independent auditor of the Group, received approximately
HK$3,490,000 (2022: HK$3,400,000) for audit services, and approximately
HK$790,000 (2022: HK$750,000) for non-audit services which include the
review of the 2023 Interim Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheng Ka Hang, Francis has been acting as Company Secretary of
the Company since January 2022. He is an associate member of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered

Governance Institute. Mr.

Cheng has participated in professional

training activities for more than 15 hours in 2023.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

A. Convening special general meetings on
requisition and putting forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
share capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at
general meetings of the Company have the right to request the
Directors to convene a special general meeting of the Company.
The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by the requisitionist and deposited at the
registered office of the Company.

If the Directors fail to duly convene a meeting within 21 days of
the date of deposit of the requisition, the requisitionist, or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights
of all requisitionist, may themselves convene a special general
meeting of the Company.

B. Enquiries from Shareholders

The Company's website provides email address, postal address,
fax number and telephone number by which enquiries can be
made to the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTMENT COMMUNITY

The Company attaches great importance to communicating with
Shareholders and the investment community (which refers to the
Company’s potential investors and research analysts who report on and
analyse the Company's position and performance).

Corporate information is communicated to Shareholders and the
investment community by way of the Company’s announcements,
corporate website, meetings with Shareholders and general investor
relations activities.

The Company believes that effective communication with investment
community is essential for promoting their understanding of the
Group's business development. The Company releases property sales
update by way of announcement and press release on a regular basis.

A. Publication of announcements and corporate
website

The Company maintains its corporate website at
www.minmetalsland.com where announcements, financial
reports, press releases and update information of the Group are
available. It serves as a key channel for Shareholders and the
investment community to access reliable and timely information
about the Company. Shareholders would raise enquiries or
provide feedback via the designated section on the Company’s
website.
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The following corporate information is posted on the Company’s
website as soon as it has been released by the Company to the
website of the Stock Exchange:

— announcements, notices and circulars

— annual reports and interim reports

—  Amended and Restated Bye-laws

— list of Directors and their roles and function

—  terms of reference of the committees of the Board

—  procedures for nomination of Directors by Shareholders
General meetings of Shareholders

Shareholders are encouraged to attend general meetings in
person or to appoint proxies to attend and vote on their behalf
if they are unable to do so. They are welcome to raise questions
and comments at general meetings, which members of the
Board and independent auditor of the Company are delighted to
answer.

Shareholders are informed of the voting procedures of general
meetings by the chairman of the general meeting. The Company
also provides Shareholders with sufficient and timely information
concerning the date, location and agenda of general meetings
and other information regarding issues to be decided at general
meetings.

The Company ensures votes cast are properly counted and
recorded. Independent scrutineers are appointed to count the
number of votes cast at general meetings. The Company
announces and publishes, on the same day of the general
meeting, the poll voting results on the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange.

Investor relations activities

The Company believes that regular and effective communication
with investment community is essential to enhancing corporate
governance and in particular, to their understanding of the
Company’s business development. The Company endeavours to
maintain regular meetings and dialogues with the investment
community through participation in investor conferences, analyst
and media briefings, non-deal road shows and investors’ and
shareholders’ visits.
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The Company adopted the Shareholders Communication Policy in 2021
with the aim of enhancing long-term shareholder value through
regular communication with its Shareholders, both individual and
institutional Shareholders. With the Shareholders Communication Policy,
the Company sets out the framework to promote effective
communication with Shareholders so as to enable them to actively
engage with the Company and exercise their rights as Shareholders in
an informed manner.

In accordance with provision D.2.6 of the CG Code, the Company has
adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing Policy”). The
Whistleblowing Policy provides guidance and reporting channels for
employees and the relevant third parties who deal with the Group to
report any suspected impropriety in any matter relating to the Group
directly and confidentially to the designated person in the Human
Resources and Administration Department. The nature, status and
outcome of complaints received under the Whistleblowing Policy are
regularly reported to the Audit Committee.

In accordance with the new provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the
Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-Corruption
Policy”). It sets out the guidelines and minimum standards of conduct,
all applicable laws and regulations relating to anti-corruption and
anti-bribery, the responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to assist
the Group in defending itself against corrupt practices and to report
any reasonable suspicion of fraud and corruption or any attempt to do
so to management or through an appropriate reporting channel. The
Group will not tolerate any form of fraud or corruption among all
employees and those acting in an agency or fiduciary capacity on
behalf of the Group and in its dealings with third parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the adoption of the
Amended and Restated Bye-laws was approved by the Shareholders at
the annual general meeting held on 6 June 2023 bring the Bye-laws in
line with the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules (including the
core shareholder protection standards set out in Appendix 3 to the
Listing Rules (which has been renumbered as Appendix AT with effect
from 31 December 2023)) and the applicable laws of Bermuda; (b)
allow the Company to hold hybrid and electronic meetings of the
Shareholders; and (c) introduce corresponding and house-keeping
amendments. Details of the amendments are set out in the circular of
the Company dated 24 April 2023.

The proposed amendments to the Bye-laws and the adoption of the
Amended and Restated Bye-laws incorporating and consolidating all
the proposed amendments was approved by the Shareholders at AGM.

The Amended and Restated Bye-laws is available on the websites of the

Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company at
www.minmetalsland.com.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE
HHLREEHEAB S

DIRECTORS
==

Mr. He Jianbo
17T 81 & &
Chairman

TE

Mr. He Jianbo, aged 54, was appointed as an Executive Director and Managing Director of the
Company in December 2007 and is currently the Chairman of the Board. Mr. He is responsible for the
overall strategic direction of the Group and organising the management for the strategic planning and
business operations of the Company. Mr. He is a Senior International Business Engineer in the PRC and a
Chief Senior Economist in the PRC, a Vice President of the China Real Estate Chamber of Commerce and
a member of the Political Consultative Conference of Dongcheng District, Beijing, the PRC. He graduated
from the Peking University in 1992 with a Bachelor's Degree in Economics and holds a Master's Degree
in International Finance from Peking University and a Master's Degree in Business Administration from
Saint Mary's University, Canada. Mr. He joined China Minmetals in 1992 and had served the positions of
director of general administrative office, director of strategic planning division and a member of the
strategic planning committee of China Minmetals. Mr. He has extensive experience in real estate

development, corporate management, strategic planning and investment.
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Mr. Liu Bo
2R EE

Managing Director

EFRKxE

Mr. Chen Xingwu
BREREE

Deputy Managing Director
EFRmKR

Mr. Liu Bo, aged 58, acts as the General Manager of the Company since
January 2019 and was appointed as an Executive Director and the Managing
Director of the Company in March 2020. Mr. Liu holds a Master's Degree in
Engineering from the Architecture and Engineering Faculty of Xi'an University of
Architecture and Technology and is a qualified professorate senior engineer in
the PRC. He is also an expert of the expert committee of the China Construction
Industry Association and a deputy director/an expert of expert group
(committee) of the construction project management and constructor division
branch of the China Construction Industry Association. Mr. Liu joined China
Metallurgical Group Corporation (“MCC Group”) in 1988 and was the chief
economist of MCC Group and Metallurgical Corporation of China Ltd. He had
served senior management positions in various subsidiaries of MCC Group for
constructional design, and development and promotional of construction and
technology works. He has extensive experience in land development and city
complex’s EPC general contracting construction (including the EPC contracting
construction of the Singapore Universal Studio project). Mr. Liu has participated
in the development and research works in various technological research and
has obtained various patents and technological awards in the PRC. Mr. Liu was
granted a special government grant by the State Council in 2011 in recognition
of his distinguished contribution to the development of constructional
technology in the PRC.
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Mr. Chen Xingwu, aged 54, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of the
Company in June 2018 and an Executive Director and a Deputy Managing
Director of the Company in November 2018. Mr. Chen holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics from the University of International Business and
Economics and is a qualified Accountant and an International Business Engineer
in the PRC. Mr. Chen joined China Minmetals in 1991 and has been serving
various departments and subsidiaries of China Minmetals group in international
trade, international merger and acquisition finance and corporate management.
Mr. Chen has extensive experience in strategic financing and investment, and
corporate financial management.
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Mr. Yang Shangping
BiEERE

Deputy Managing Director
EERAKE

Ms. He Xiaoli
M NEBLZtL
Non-executive Director
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

Mr. Yang Shangping, aged 50, was appointed as an Executive Director and a
Deputy Managing Director of the Company in June 2017. Mr. Yang holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Civil Structural Engineering from Tongji University and a
Master’s Degree in Business Administration from Fudan University. Mr. Yang
joined the Company as the general manager of a real estate development
company of the Company in Nanjing in 2007 and is now responsible for the
strategic investment and urban development divisions of the Company. He had
participated in project works for China Overseas Holdings Ltd. and Shanghai
Vanke Co., Ltd. for over 10 years. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in project
management, sales and marketing and costing management.
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Ms. He Xiaoli, aged 56, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
in February 2002 and a Deputy Managing Director of the Company in
December 2009. She was re-designated as a Non-executive Director of the
Company in November 2018. Ms. He holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics
(majoring in Accounting) from North China University of Technology and a
Master's Degree in Business Administration from the University of South
Australia. She is a qualified PRC Chief Senior Accountant and a member of the
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining the Company,
Ms. He was the head of business division and the deputy minister of accounting
information division of the finance department of the former China National
Nonferrous Metals Industry Corporation. She is currently a supervisor of
Minmetals Development Co., Limited and a non-executive director of China
Minmetals HK. (Holdings) Limited. Ms. He has extensive experience in corporate
finance and investment, capital market operations and financial management.

APBLzt  BELTAR R-ZET_F - AEZERARANTES -
RIZENF+ - ARZERARFAESFRRLE R N\F+—H
HAERRRARFERTEE - MALHALNTIERBEEREL (G52
FR)EUMENBLERASTEERRLEMN - BSFHESRSE
LeBEZMEFdmBee8 - EMAARFZH - ALt BREERTEA
EEBIXRARAAMBBIEEREFRTIERSHERRAERER -
ERESIBRERBNDARAFAZESRTFEABERESERER AR
TEF - MALIREEERE BRAEEIYBEETEHEELEELR -

064 ANNUAL REPORT 2023

\



Mr. Huang Guoping
EEFELE
Non-executive Director
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Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy
MR

Independent Non-executive Director
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Mr. Huang Guoping, aged 61, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
the Company in February 2022. Mr. Huang holds a Bachelor's Degree in
engineering (majoring in non-ferrous metal metallurgy) from Central South
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (now known as Central South University). Mr.
Huang joined China Minmetals in 2000 and has been serving in various
subsidiaries of China Minmetals for non-ferrous metal metallurgy, trading and
corporate management businesses. Mr. Huang was a director and the chairman
of China Minmetals Rare Earth Co., Ltd. and is currently a part-time external
director and supervisor of China Minmetals and a director of Minmetals
Development Co., Limited. Mr. Huang has extensive experience in non-ferrous
metal metallurgy and business management.
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Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy, aged 76, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in September 2015. Mr. Lam graduated from
the University of Hong Kong. He also holds a Master's Degree in Science of
Management from the Stanford Graduate School of Business. He joined the
Hong Kong Government as Administrative Officer in 1970 and had worked in
areas like housing, environmental protection, land administration, procurement,
financial services and large infrastructure projects including Hong Kong
International Airport, etc. He had served as the CEO of the Airport Authority and
the Managing Director of the Urban Renewal Authority and a member of the
Lantau Development Advisory Committee and the Country and Marine Parks
Board. Currently, he is a director of Life Education Activity Programme and a
court member and an adjunct professor of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Mr. Lam, a Justice of Peace since 2004, was awarded the Golden
Bauhinia Star by the HKSAR Government in 2008.
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Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny

mEMF L L

Independent Non-executive Director

BUEWITES

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny, aged 71, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in April 2018. Ms. Law graduated from
the University of Hong Kong with an Honours degree in Science. She holds a
Master’s degree in Public Administration from Harvard University and was
named a Littauer Fellow. She also holds a Master's degree in Education from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Before retiring from the civil service in 2007,
Ms. Law was the Commissioner of the Hong Kong Independent Commission
Against Corruption. During her 30 years in the civil service, Ms. Law has worked
in many fields, including medical and health, economic services, housing, land
and planning, home affairs, social welfare, civil service, transport and education.
Ms. Law is currently an independent non-executive director of China Unicom
(Hong Kong) Limited, Nameson Holdings Limited, China Taiping Insurance
Holdings Company Limited and New World Development Company Limited (all
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange). She was an external director of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, a member of the Executive Council of
the Government of the HKSAR and an independent non-executive director of
CLP Holdings Limited. Ms. Law was awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star and the
Grand Bauhinia Medal in 2003 and 2017 respectively by the Government of
HKSAR in recognition of her distinguished service to the community. She is also
a Justice of Peace since 2008.
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Professor Wang Xiuli

EIFBHER

Independent Non-executive Director

BYWITES

Professor Wang Xiuli, aged 59, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in July 2022. Professor Wang holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Economics from Renmin University of China, a Master's
Degree in Management from the University of International Business and
Economics and a Doctorate Degree in Economics from the University of
International Business and Economics. She is also a member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Professor Wang has been teaching at
the University of International Business and Economics since 1988 and is
currently a professor at the Business School of the University of International
Business and Economics. Professor Wang has extensive experience in financial
accounting, corporate financial statements analysis and internationalisation of
accounting standards.

Professor Wang is currently an independent director of Guoxin Health Insurance
Service Group Co., Ltd. (listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and Zhongke
Cambrian Technology Co., Ltd. (listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange). She was an
independent director of Minmetals Development Co., Ltd., Three Squirrels Co.,
Ltd. and Ecovacs Robotics Co., Ltd.
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Mr. Ning Heqiu
BEMREE

Deputy General Manager
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Mr. Dai Pengyu
RHEEFkE

Deputy General Manager
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MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

Mr. Ning Heqiu, aged 59, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of the
Company in March 2020. Mr. Ning holds a Master's Degree in Engineering from
Wuhan University and is a qualified professorate senior engineer in the PRC. Mr.
Ning has been serving in the construction sector for over 30 years since he
joined 23rd Metallurgical of China Minmetals in 1986. He is now the President
of 23rd Metallurgical, a vice president of Hunan Construction Industry
Association and a deputy director of China National Association for Non-ferrous
Metals Industries Construction. He has been recognised for his professional
achievement in Hunan Province. Mr. Ning has extensive experience in
construction business and corporate management.
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Mr. Dai Pengyu, aged 41, was appointed as a Deputy General Manager of the
Company in March 2020. Mr. Dai holds a Bachelor's Degree from Xi'an University
of Architecture and Technology, majoring in business administration. Mr. Dai
joined the Company in 2007 and has been serving senior management
positions in various real estate development subsidiaries of the Company in
central, eastern and southern China. Mr. Dai is now responsible for the
operational management department and marketing management department
of the Company. Mr. Dai has extensive experience in real estate operation
management and marketing.
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Mr. Tang Ying Kit, Edward
HEHgLE

Financial Controller and
General Manager of Hong Kong
Business Division

MBRERBBEXMRLRE

Mr. Cheng Ka Hang, Francis
BRELEE
Company Secretary

NEIEE
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Mr. Tang Ying Kit, Edward, aged 50, joined the Company in April 2013 and is
now the Company’s Financial Controller and General Manager of Hong Kong
Business Division. Mr. Tang is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, and a Certified ESG Analyst (CESGA®). Mr. Tang holds a Bachelor
degree in Business Administration in Finance (Honours) from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Tang
worked in listed company and state-owned enterprise in Hong Kong. Mr. Tang
has extensive experience in corporate finance, financial and general
management.

HEGgRE BFAL+TR R-T-—ZFOAMARRF  BAISAAA
MBBERBEEFELELE - BEERERESHILG RERFITER
BIMAEEE  BERSTSFNASEREE  ULRERFLERE
/ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂi HEAKAEEMBRABRTIHERRRVBRARES LB

RIARRER > BEBRBELTRARREELE  ROEXME BB
TREENTEES=&KR -

Mr. Cheng Ka Hang, Francis, aged 49, was appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company in January 2022. Mr. Cheng is an associate member of
both The Chartered Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute. He has over 25 years of experience in compliance and
company secretarial profession.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
e

The Board would like to submit the Annual Report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are real estate development,
specialised construction and property investment. Details of the
principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year by business and
geographical segments is set out in Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 115 of this Annual Report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: N/A).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a Dividend Policy that sets out the principles
and guidelines in relation to the distribution and payment of dividends
to the Shareholders.

The Board has the discretion to declare or propose dividends to the
Shareholders subject to the limitations under the Companies Act of
Bermuda, the Amended and Restated Bye-laws and applicable laws,
regulations and accounting standards. In proposing any dividend
payout, the Board shall take into account, among other things, the
financial performance, cash flow position, business requirements of the
Company and the market conditions.
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The Board may declare the payment of an interim dividend or propose
a final dividend which will be subject to the approval of the
Shareholders at annual general meeting. Under special circumstances
such as a temporary reduction in profit or changes in business
environment, the Board may, at its discretion and after due and careful
consideration, distribute a special dividend to the Shareholders.

Dividend payout would be in the form of cash or scrip or a
combination of both.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion
on the Group’s corporate strategy, future business development,
possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are
provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” as well as the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 24 to 27 and pages 30 to 43 of this
Annual Report respectively.

The financial risk factors and management of the Group are set out in
Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

No significant events affecting the Group have occurred since the end
of the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the “Financial Highlights” on
page 7 of this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

To promote sustainability, the Group strives to maintain a balance
between its real estate development business and the ecological
environment. The Group treasures green design and eco-friendly
construction that involves the use of materials and processes that are
resource-efficient and environmentally responsible throughout the life
cycle of property development. Details of the Group’s performance in
environment preservation are set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report for the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HEHGHG

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group acknowledges the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements. During the year under review, the Group had
complied with the requirements under the Companies Act of Bermuda,
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Listing Rules, the SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
relevant rules and regulations of places which it has operations.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group's success depends on the support of key stakeholders, such
as employees, customers and Shareholders.

Employees

Employees are an important and valuable asset to the Group. The
Group rewards and recognises the contribution of staff by offering
competitive remuneration package and standardised performance
appraisal system to provide incentives. The Group has a thorough
career development programme to promote career development and
progression by providing appropriate training and opportunities for
career advancement within the Group.

Customers

The Group's principal customers are the purchasers of its real estate
development projects. The Group has established property
management subsidiaries in Mainland China and Hong Kong to provide
customers with professional and caring property management services.

Shareholders

The Group strives to enhance corporate value to Shareholders. It is
poised to foster business development to achieve sustainable business
and earnings growth and reward Shareholders through stable dividend
payouts taking into account capital adequacy levels, liquidity positions
and business expansion needs of the Group.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in Note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 28 and Note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

PROPERTIES

Particulars of the Group's major properties held for investment and
properties under development are set out on pages 12 to 21 of this
Annual Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2023,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda,
amounted to HK$849,336,000 (2022: HK$934,575,000).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 9 of this Annual
Report.

SHARE OPTION

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 7 June 2013 to
recognise and acknowledge eligible persons for their contribution or

potential contribution to the Group.

No share options have yet been granted by the Company pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out as follows:

(1)

(2)

(3)

4)

Participants

Any directors or any employees of any company of the Group
and any advisers of, consultants of, contractors to any company
of the Group or any person who has any relationship (whether
business or otherwise) with any company of the Group or any
person whom the Directors consider, in their sole discretion, has
contributed or will contribute or can contribute to the Group.

Total number of Shares available for issue

The total number of Shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme is 333,785,270, representing approximately 9.97%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
Annual Report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No share options under the Share Option Scheme may be
granted to any eligible person, which, if exercised in full, would
result in the total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon the exercise of the share options already granted or to be
granted to such eligible person under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) in
the 12-month period up to and including the date of such new
grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of such new grant. Any grant of further share
options above this limit shall be subject to the requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The period within which the Shares must be taken up under
a share option

The Directors may in their absolute discretion determine the
period during which a share option may be exercised and notify
each grantee, save that such period shall not be later than 10
years from the date on which the Directors make an offer of the
share option subject to the provisions for early termination as
stipulated in the Share Option Scheme.
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(5) Time of acceptance and the amount payable on acceptance (5) EWZHIRRIEZENBEREZENLH
of the share option

The offer of a share option made in accordance with the Share BEEREFEMBEL CEBRESZL
Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 business days from AREEZHNEABT T N\EZEA
the date on which the offer is made and the amount payable on NEER - MEERIERE CENERERI0
acceptance of the share option is HK$10. BT o
(6) The basis of determining the subscription price (6) ETRBEEZHE

The subscription price shall be determined by the Board at the REEBENEHERABERERBESS
time of grant of the relevant share option and shall not be less BE WAAERATHESE )R
than the highest of (i) the closing price per Share as stated in the R BEEREE B AR BN AR
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of FrgRSRERMARZERKTE ()R
the relevant share option; (i) the amount equivalent to the EERLEHEERES A AEE %A
average closing price per Share as stated in the Stock Exchange's RATRMDAREZFAEARERMTZ
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately BRTFHWTE - R(iNAREIRG 2
preceding the date of grant of the relevant share option; or (iii) (e

the nominal value of a Share.

(7)  The remaining life (7) BRETEZFEGHR
The Share Option Scheme expired on 6 June 2023. BRESEENR _ZE_=F A AE
e
DIRECTORS =

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Annual Report WRAFEREEANFRBE I EEA
are:

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. He Jianbo Al 8182 5 A
Mr. Liu Bo 2% e A

Mr. Chen Xingwu ok L 4 A
Mr. Yang Shangping 15 A&
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. He Xiaoli A/ NEX L
Mr. Huang Guoping \mEFRE
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Lam Chung Lun, Billy RAR B SE A
Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny EBWMA L+
Professor Wang Xiuli FHBHKX
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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Mr. Yang Shangping, Ms. He Xiaoli and Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny
will retire from the office of Director at the AGM in accordance with
Bye-law 111(A) of the Amended and Restated Bye-laws and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company
and any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

There is no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the business of the Group, to which the Company and any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the Directors or an entity
connected with him is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly, which was entered into during the year or subsisted at any
time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company was entered into or
existed during the year.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors since the date of 2023 interim report of the
Company are as follows:

1. Mr. Liu Bo was appointed as an expert of the expert committee
of the China Construction Industry Association and a deputy
director/an expert of expert group (committee) of the
construction project management and constructor division
branch of the China Construction Industry Association.

2. Ms. He Xiaoli ceased to be a non-executive director of Hunan Non-
Ferrous Metals Holding Group Ltd. (@ wholly-owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals) and the chairman of the supervisory board of
Minmetals Finance Co., Ltd.
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3. Mr. Huang Guoping transitioned from a specialised external
director and supervisor to a part-time external director and
supervisor of China Minmetals.

4. Changes in Director's emoluments during the year are set out in
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The interests of Directors in competing businesses that are required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules as notified by
the relevant Directors are as follows:

Mr. He Jianbo, being the Chairman of the Board and an Executive
Director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings,
Liaoning Industrial Park and Minmetals Real Estate.

Mr. Liu Bo, being an Executive Director and the Managing Director of
the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings.

Mr. Chen Xingwu, being an Executive Director and a Deputy Managing
Director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals Land Holdings
and Minmetals Real Estate.

Mr. Yang Shangping, being an Executive Director and a Deputy
Managing Director of the Company, is also a director of Minmetals
Land Holdings.

All of Minmetals Land Holdings, Liaoning Industrial Park and Minmetals
Real Estate are companies established under the laws of the PRC.
Minmetals Land Holdings is engaged in real estate development,
construction contracting and sub-contracting, property management,
surveying and design of construction projects, project investment,
provision of technical services, investment consultancy and corporate
management consultancy. Liaoning Industrial Park is engaged in the
development of Minmetals (Yingkou) Industrial Park. Minmetals Real
Estate is engaged in real estate development and operation,
construction, property management, real estate agency, real estate
advertising and exhibition and other real estate related business.

Ms. Law Fan Chiu Fun, Fanny, being an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, is also an independent non-executive director
of New World Development Company Limited which is a listed
company in Hong Kong and principally engaged in property
development, property investment and other investment businesses.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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In the event that the Board decides that there is a conflict of interest
between the Group and the aforementioned companies, the Directors
with a conflict of interest will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolutions.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual Report, none of
the Directors or their respective associates (as if each of them were
treated as a controlling shareholder under Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules) had any competing interests in a business which competes or is
likely to compete with the business of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or (iii) were required, pursuant to the Model

or (i) were

Code as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

WMEESERRAEEE AR HR M
BRMNGREREE  EHEEZKERER
ﬁﬁa/;%wﬁém N o
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FRBIES 10T 2R R MBI REARE
BEBEBRKAEBRRES cEBTHREE
ATz -
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FAROKESER 2B R

B

RZTEZ=F+=ZA=+—H EFRAEAR
RIFBITHRABRAR R RE MR EE
(EBEHFMHABERMIETRIBZER) 2BH -
*EFEJHXT SEHTHEE OIREES KBS A
‘f’ﬂ*B%t&%)\“* ZER I NN DN
Rz #m kAR (BITIRREF RS &)
ﬁ@@1‘%??&#?EM1’Eiﬁﬁ?§ﬁﬁZﬁE\ K
2) NV ERBEZBSLBEKRIE=BAT
ZRZHEERAZEO TSR M o sk
KB Bk AR AR A BRI T IR 2
TFRIAERR B Rz Em AR IAT

Long Position in Shares RERBZHE

Approximate

percentage of total

Number of issued Shares

Name of Directors Nature of interest Shares held HERITRH

EsnE EHEME e 2RHBE BHEZBNEIL

Mr. He Jianbo Personal 2,040,000 0.06%
fa] 8% 55 A & A

Mr. Yang Shangping Personal 1,846,667 0.06%
15w {EUN

Ms. He Xiaoli Personal 783,333 0.02%
A/ N L B A
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company or any of their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
had any personal, family, corporate or other interests or short positions
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as at 31
December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age, was
granted or had exercised any right to subscribe for any equity or debt
securities of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO) during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS,
WARRANTS OR SIMILAR RIGHTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option” and “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures” above, the Company had no other outstanding
options, convertible securities, warrants or other similar rights as at 31
December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there were no repurchase or exercise of
options and convertible securities during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Amended and
Restated Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, according to the register of interests kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO, the following entities had
interests and short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which
fall to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV

of the SFO:

FERR

RTE-=FE+-"FA=+—H BEAQF
HBALHERIE="a=1T K2R ET
BEZREELMES THEEBRAAGR
HBREBRHPEERRBELSRAEEIE
THEBE—RE=DEERAARQAWE 2
HREKE

Approximate percentage
of total issued Shares

Interest in Shares HERITROEH
B 12 RE £ BABE DL

Long position  Short position  Long position  Short position
Name of Shareholders BREEE e KB e KB
China Minmetals FERE 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
CMCL A 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
CMNH AEA R 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
CMN AEEERMD 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
Album Enterprises B 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
Minmetals HK BEEAE 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —
June Glory June Glory 2,071,095,506 — 61.88% —

Note:  June Glory is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Minmetals HK, which in turn is owned as
to approximately 39.04%, 38.95% and 22.01% by CMCL, Album Enterprises and Top
Create Resources Limited respectively. Album Enterprises and Top Create Resources

Limited are wholly owned by CMN, which in turn is owned as to approximately
99.999% and 0.001% by CMNH and CMCL respectively. CMNH is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CMCL. CMCL is owned as to approximately 88.4% by China Minmetals.
Accordingly, each of China Minmetals, CMCL, CMNH, CMN, Album Enterprises and
Minmetals HK were each deemed to have an interest in the 2,071,095,506 Shares

held by June Glory.

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED
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HABKD  EH D% KTop Create Resources
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# o B I K Top Create Resources Limited i FLHE
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the vyear, the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately
56% (2022: 31%) of the total purchases of the Group. Purchases from
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 21% (2022: 14%) of
the Group’s total purchases. None of the Directors, their close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) and any Shareholders (who
to the best knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company'’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers during the year.

During the year, the percentage of the revenue from sales of goods or
rendering of services attributable to the Group's five largest customers
combined was less than 30% (2022: less than 30%) of the total revenue
of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The connected transaction conducted by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

A consultancy agreement dated 31 July 2023 was entered into
between Shengshi Guangye (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) and Minmetals Land Holdings (an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of China Minmetals), pursuant to which Shengshi
Guangye agreed to provide the management consultancy services to
Minmetals Land Holdings in relation to a real estate development
project situated in Shunde District, Foshan City, the PRC (“Consultancy
Agreement”). The contract sum is 0.6% of the sales amount of the
project and was estimated to be approximately RMB58,800,000.

Minmetals Land Holdings is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals, which in turn is the controlling shareholder of the
Company. Accordingly, Minmetals Land Holdings is a connected person
of the Company and the entering into Consultancy Agreement and the
transaction contemplated constitute a connected transaction of the
Company under the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The continuing connected transactions conducted by the Group during

the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

1. (i)

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED

A conditional construction contracting agreement dated 17
April 2020 was entered into between the Company and
China Minmetals whereby the Group may from time to
time invite China Minmetals Group to tender and award
construction contracts,
construction contractors in respect of the existing and
future real estate development projects of the Group in
Mainland China and Hong Kong for a term of three years
from 19 April 2020 to 18 April 2023 (“Construction
Framework Agreement ).

subject to successful tender as

The Construction Framework Agreement | and the annual
caps were approved by the independent Shareholders at
the special general meeting of the Company held on 28
May 2020 whereby the total contract sums which may be
awarded by the Group to China Minmetals Group shall not
exceed the annual caps below:

BERERS
REE=F==F 1A=t HLFE-
AT 2 5 BB HHEMT ¢

1. (i)

RZE_TFMWA+EH AR

AEPE AR ARG ARET
BipE Bl AEBERZ-T =
ZHFENMA+NARE-_ZT_=F
MA+N\HIE=FHM 7] T8
BERBEAREEKE AFRA
SERFEAHREEBRERE
RKeEHEZBEBEERE Wi
HEHZE ZEEEREH
FEHEIRE v BEABRE ([ @25
TRERBE—]

BETIRERMBZ - REFEL
R-RARRE-_FT_FTFAHA
“TNHBTZBRRENAE L
BB RAE - ANEBAET
TEAIBREEXNE AR ZARA
BB TEBBUATFELR :

For the period from

LT #

19 April 2020 to 1 January 2021 to

1 January 2022 to

1 January 2023 to

31 December 2020 31 December 2021 31 December 2022 18 April 2023
T _EF —E-—5F —EgE-= —E-=
MA+HABE —HA—BZ —A—HZ —HA—HBZ
—EEE —E-—fF —EgE=-= —Eg-=
+=ZH=+-—H +=ZA=+—8H +=ZH=+-—H mA+NR
RMB3,921,050,000 RMB3,693,150,000 RMB5,401,960,000 RMB1,657,570,000

3,921,050,000 7T A R #& 3,693,150,0007C A R #

The aggregate contract sum awarded by the Group to
China Minmetals Group for the period from 1 January
2023 to 18 April 2023 under Construction Framework
Agreement | was RMB9,897,012 (2022: RMB3,013,423,383).

The Construction Framework Agreement | expired on 18
April 2023.
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(ii)

A conditional construction contracting agreement dated 17
April 2023 was entered into between the Company and
China Minmetals for the renewal of Construction
Framework Agreement | whereby the Group may from
time to time invite China Minmetals Group to tender and
award construction contracts, subject to successful tender
as construction contractors in respect of the existing and
future real estate development projects of the Group in
Mainland China and Hong Kong for a term of three years
from 19 April 2023 to 18 April 2026 (“Construction
Framework Agreement II").

The Construction Framework Agreement Il and the annual
caps were approved by the independent Shareholders at
the special general meeting of the Company held on 6
June 2023 whereby the total contract sums which may be
awarded by the Group to China Minmetals Group shall not
exceed the annual caps below:

(ii)

RZF_=ZFWA+LEH AR
AIEAE AR B R ARRET
B ABEEEZETRERRK
EoBRE ARER-_T =
FUATAhARE-FT - RFMN
AT N\BIE=FHE - 7] T #
FTERBEEEKE RFRAS
B 7 B A Ko BB 3R B M 2R
ZEMEZRRARRE LFHE
KINFIRRE ZEEERBERE
WEERB 2 EZEABR([ZET
RIERWZ D) -

BRETRERBZE _IMEFEL
R-RARAEZZT_=FH
NERITZBRRFNAEG LEE
YRRAE c AKB AR THE
TEEEKE QR ZA R
BTEBBATFELR

For the period from
AT HIE

19 April 2023 to 1 January 2024 to 1 January 2025 to 1 January 2026 to

31 December 2023 31 December 2024 31 December 2025 18 April 2026
—=E-= —E-E —E-RE —TECXRE
mMBE+HABZE —B—HZ —HBA—RZ%& —BA—HZ
—E=-= —EomE —EHF —EZREF
+=—BA=+—8 +=-—A=+-—H +=—A=+—H mA+NH
RMB6,788,510,000 RMB5,829,410,000 RMB3,792,520,000 RMB3,112,000,000
6,788,510,0007T A R #& 5,829,410,0007T A R & 3,792,520,0007C A R & 3,112,000,0007T A R #&

RZE-_=ZFIOWA+ILBE=-Z
—=F+-_A=+—HBI1tHH -
ANEERBERAETRIER DS —
BRYHEAREEBRNKE AT ZE
[A] 4858 £879,860,751 T AR (=
T ZF:NER)

The aggregate contract sum awarded by the Group to
China Minmetals Group for the period from 19 April 2023
to 31 December 2023 under Construction Framework
Agreement Il was RMB879,860,751 (2022: N/A).
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A construction costing consultation framework agreement dated
28 April 2020 was entered into between the Company and CERI
(a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China Minmetals) whereby the
Company may engage CERI to provide audit review over the
budgets or final accounts of the Company’s real estate
development projects, and CERI may accept such engagement
during the term of three years from 28 April 2020 to 27 April
2023 (“Consultation Framework Agreement”).

The annual cap of the service fees payable by the Company to
CERI' under the Consultation Framework Agreement for the
period from 28 April 2020 to 31 December 2020, for each of the
two years ending 31 December 2021 and 2022 and for the
period from 1 January 2023 to 27 April 2023 were RMB4,500,000,
RMB9,750,000, RMB12,750,000 and RMB3,000,000 respectively. As
all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the service fees
payable by the Company under the Consultation Framework
Agreement were less than 5%, the Consultation Framework
Agreement was subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

No service fee was paid by the Company to CERI for the period
from 1 January 2023 to 27 April 2023 (2022: RMB1,892,545).

The Consultation Framework Agreement expired on 27 April
2023.
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A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2022 was entered into
between Brightway Asset (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) as the landlord (“Tenancy Agreement
I"), details of which are set out below:

Premises - 9th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham
Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
with a GFA of approximately 5,793 square feet

Term . two vyears from 1 June 2022 to 31 May 2024
(both dates inclusive)

Rent - HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive of
government rates and service, management and
air-conditioning charges)

Rent-free period  : 2 months

Service, - HKS$30,702.90 per calendar month
management
and air-
conditioning
charges

The annual caps for the rent and service, management and air-
conditioning charges payable by Brightway Asset in respect of
Tenancy Agreement | for the period from 1 June 2022 to 31
December 2022, for the year ended 31 December 2023 and for
the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 May 2024 were
HKS$1,674,757, HK$2,871,011 and HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all
the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum
of the annual rent and service, management and air-
conditioning charges receivable by Texion under Tenancy
Agreement | were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement | was
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and service, management and
air-conditioning charges paid by Brightway Asset to Texion for
the year ended 31 December 2023 under Tenancy Agreement |
was HK$2,871,011 (2022: HKS1,257,660).
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A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2022 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory (a non-wholly owned subsidiary
of China Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord
(“Tenancy Agreement II"), details of which are set out below:

Premises - 11th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham
Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
with a GFA of approximately 5,793 square feet

Term . two years from 1 June 2022 to 31 May 2024
(both dates inclusive)

Rent . HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive of
government rates and service, management and
air-conditioning charges)

Rent-free period  : 2 months

Service, - HKS$30,702.90 per calendar month
management
and air-
conditioning
charges

The annual caps for the rent and service, management and air-
conditioning charges payable by Minmetals Cheerglory in respect
of Tenancy Agreement Il for the period from 1 June 2022 to 31
December 2022, for the year ended 31 December 2023 and for
the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 May 2024 were
HK$1,674,757, HK$2,871,011 and HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all
the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum
of the annual rent and service, management and air-
conditioning charges receivable by Texion under Tenancy
Agreement Il were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement Il was
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and service, management and
air-conditioning charges paid by Minmetals Cheerglory to Texion
for the year ended 31 December 2023 under Tenancy
Agreement Il was HK$2,871,011 (2022: HK$1,257,660).
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A tenancy agreement dated 1 June 2022 was entered into
between Minmetals HK (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord (“Tenancy
Agreement III"), details of which are set out below:

Premises :19th Floor, China Minmetals Tower, 79 Chatham
Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
with a GFA of approximately 5,793 square

Term . two years from 1 June 2022 to 31 May 2024
(both dates inclusive)

Rent - HK$208,548 per calendar month (exclusive of
government rates and service, management and
air-conditioning charges)

Rent-free period  : 2 months

Service, . HKS$30,702.90 per calendar month
management
and air-
conditioning
charges

The annual caps for the rent and service, management and air-
conditioning charges payable by Minmetals HK in respect of
Tenancy Agreement Il for the period from 1 June 2022 to 31
December 2022, for the year ended 31 December 2023 and for
the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 May 2024 were
HKS$1,674,757, HK$2,871,011 and HKS$1,196,255 respectively. As all
the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum
of the annual rent and service, management and air-
conditioning charges receivable by Texion under Tenancy
Agreement Ill were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement Il was
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rent and service, management and
air-conditioning charges paid by Minmetals HK to Texion for the
year ended 31 December 2023 under Tenancy Agreement Ill was
HK$2,871,011 (2022: HKS1,257,660).
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A tenancy agreement dated 30 June 2020 was entered into
between Minmetals Cheerglory as the tenant and Texion as the
landlord (“Tenancy Agreement V"), details of which are set out

below:

Premises ©Unit 1201 of 12th Floor, China Minmetals Tower,
79 Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong with a GFA of approximately 1,629
square feet

Term . three years from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023
(both dates inclusive)

Rent . HKS$58,644 per calendar month (exclusive of

government rates and management fees)

Management fee : HK$8,633.70 per calendar month

The annual caps for the rent and management fee payable by
Minmetals Cheerglory in respect of Tenancy Agreement IV for the
period from 1 July 2020 to 31 December 2020, for each of the
two years ending 31 December 2021 and 2022 and for the
period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June 2023 were HK$403,667,
HK$807,333, HK$807,333 and HK$403,667 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of
the annual rent and management fee receivable by Texion under
Tenancy Agreement IV were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement IV
was subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental and management fee paid by
Minmetals Cheerglory to Texion for the period from 1 January
2023 to 30 June 2023 under Tenancy Agreement IV was
HK$403,666 (2022: HK$748,688).

The Tenancy Agreement IV expired on 30 June 2023.
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A tenancy agreement dated 30 June 2020 was entered into
between MMG (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of China
Minmetals) as the tenant and Texion as the landlord (“Tenancy
Agreement V"), details of which are set out below:

Premises . Unit 1208 of 12th Floor, China Minmetals Tower,
79 Chatham Road South, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong of a GFA of approximately 1,840
square feet

Term . three years from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023
(both dates inclusive)

Rent . HK$66,240 per calendar month (exclusive of
government rates and management fees)

Management fee HK$9,752.00 per calendar month

The annual caps for the rent and management fee payable by
MMG in respect of Tenancy Agreement V for the period from 1
July 2020 to 31 December 2020, for each of the two years
ending 31 December 2021 and 2022 and for the period from 1
January 2023 to 30 June 2023 were HK$455952, HK$911,904,
HKS$911,904 and HK$455,952 respectively. As all the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the aggregate sum of the annual
rent and management fee receivable by Texion under Tenancy
Agreement V were less than 5%, Tenancy Agreement V was
subject to annual review, reporting and announcement
requirements, but exempted from circular, independent financial
advice and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of the rental and management fee paid by
MMG to Texion for the period from 1 January 2023 to 30 June
2023 under Tenancy Agreement V was HK$455952 (2022
HK$845,664).

The Tenancy Agreement V expired on 30 June 2023.
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A loan framework agreement dated 13 July 2020 was entered into
between Guangzhou Kuangrong (a 51%-owned subsidiary of the
Company), Shengshi Guangye (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company and the holder of 51% equity interest in Guangzhou
Kuangrong) and Guangzhou Merchants (the holder of 49% equity
interest in Guangzhou Kuangrong) whereby Guangzhou
Kuangrong may during the term from 13 July 2020 to 12 July
2023 provide loans by way of entrustment loans or directly to
Shengshi Guangye (or its designated fellow subsidiaries in
Mainland China) and Guangzhou Merchants based on the same
terms and conditions and in proportion to their respective
shareholdings in Guangzhou Kuangrong on an unsecured
interest-free basis (“Guangzhou Kuangrong Framework
Agreement”).

The caps amount of the loans to be provided by Guangzhou
Kuangrong to Shengshi Guangye (or its designated fellow
subsidiaries in Mainland China) and Guangzhou Merchants for the
period from 13 July 2020 to 12 July 2023 were RMB688,500,000
and RMB661,500,000 respectively.

Guangzhou Merchants is a substantial shareholder of Guangzhou
Kuangrong and is therefore a connected person at the subsidiary
level of the Company. As the Board has approved the continuing
connected transactions of the Company and the Independent
Non-executive Directors have confirmed that the terms of the
Guangzhou Kuangrong Framework Agreement are fair and
reasonable, on normal commercial terms and in the interest of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole, the Guangzhou
Kuangrong Framework Agreement was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and Shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

The loans provided by Guangzhou Kuangrong to Guangzhou
Merchants for the period from 1 January 2023 to 12 July 2023
were RMB651,700,000 (2022: RMB651,700,000).

The Guangzhou Kuangrong Framework Agreement expired on 12
July 2023.
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A financial services framework agreement dated 2 February 2021
was entered into between the Company and Minmetals Finance
whereby Minmetals Finance would provide current and fixed
deposit services, loan services and settlement services to the
Company and its subsidiaries in Mainland China for a term of
three years from 20 April 2021 to 19 April 2024 (“Financial
Services Framework Agreement”). Pursuant to the Financial
Services Framework Agreement, the annual cap on the maximum
daily outstanding balance of deposits (including accrued
interests) to be placed by the Company and its subsidiaries in
Mainland China for each of the three years from 20 April 2021
to 19 April 2024 was RMB3,000,000,000. The provision of the
deposit services by Minmetals Finance to the Company and its
subsidiaries in Mainland China and the aforesaid annual cap were
approved by the independent Shareholders at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 19 March 2021.

The maximum daily outstanding balance of deposits (including
accrued interests) placed by the Company and its subsidiaries in
Mainland China with Minmetals Finance for the year ended 31
December 2023 was RMB2,995,992,355 (2022: RMB2,974,578,950).

A loan framework agreement dated 26 April 2021 was entered
into between Beijing Wanhu (@ 51%-owned subsidiary of the
Company), MLIML (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and the holder of 51% equity interest in Beijing Wanhu) and
Beijing Vanke (the holder of 49% equity interest in Beijing
Wanhu) pursuant to which Beijing Wanhu may during the term
commencing from 26 April 2021 to 25 April 2023 provide loans
to MLIML (or its designated wholly-owned subsidiaries in
Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke based on the same terms and
conditions and in proportion to their respective shareholdings in
Beijing Wanhu on an unsecured interest-free basis (“Beijing
Wanhu Framework Agreement”).

The caps amount of the loans to be provided by Beijing Wanhu
to MLIML (or its designated wholly-owned subsidiaries in
Mainland China) and Beijing Vanke for the period from 26 April
2021 to 25 April 2023 were RMB2,142,000,000 and
RMB2,058,000,000 respectively.
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Beijing Vanke is a substantial shareholder of Beijing Wanhu and is
therefore a connected person at the subsidiary level of the
Company. As the Board has approved the continuing connected
transactions of the Company and the Independent Non-
executive Directors have confirmed that the terms of the Beijing
Wanhu Framework Agreement are fair and reasonable, on normal
commercial terms and in the interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole, the Beijing Wanhu Framework
Agreement is subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and Shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

The loans provided by Beijing Wanhu to Beijing Vanke for the
period from 1 January 2023 to 25 April 2023 were
RMB1,992,780,000 (2022: RMB1,992,780,000).

The Beijing Wanhu Framework Agreement expired on 25 April
2023.

A loan framework agreement dated 26 April 2021 was entered
between Guangzhou Kuangmao (an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company), Shengshi Guangye (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the holder of 51%
equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao) and Xiefeng (the
holder of 49% equity interest of Guangzhou Kuangmao) pursuant
to which Guangzhou Kuangmao may during the term
commencing from 26 April 2021 to 25 April 2024 provide loans
by way of entrustment loans or directly provide loans to
Shengshi Guangye and Xiefeng (or their respective direct holding
company, or designated fellow subsidiaries in the PRC) based on
the same terms and conditions and in proportion to their
respective shareholdings in Guangzhou Kuangmao on an
unsecured interest-free basis (“Kuangmao Framework
Agreement”).

The caps amount of the loans to be provided by Guangzhou
Kuangmao to Shengshi Guangye and Xiefeng (or their respective
direct holding company, or designated fellow subsidiaries in the
PRC) for the period from 26 April 2021 to 25 April 2024 were
RMB969,000,000 and RMB931,000,000 respectively.
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As at the date of the Kuangmao Framework Agreement,
Guangzhou Kuangmao was an insignificant subsidiary of the
Company as all relevant ratios pursuant to Rule 14A.09(1) of the
Listing Rules based on the financial statements of Guangzhou
Kuangmao for the period from 12 December 2018 (date of
incorporation) to 31 December 2018 and for the two years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2020, respectively were less than
10%. Xiefeng was therefore not regarded as a connected person
of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.09 of the Listing Rules and
the transactions contemplated under the Kuangmao Framework
Agreement did not constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Based on the unaudited financial information of Guangzhou
Kuangmao and the Company for the year ended 31 December
2021, the relevant ratio (as defined under Rule 14A.09(1) of the
Listing Rules) of Guangzhou Kuangmao exceeded 10% for the
year ended 31 December 2021, and thus Guangzhou Kuangmao
has ceased to be an insignificant subsidiary of the Company
under Rule 14A.09(1) of the Listing Rules and Xiefeng shall
become a connected person of the Company at the subsidiary
level under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.60 of the Listing Rules, the Company is
required to comply with the applicable reporting and disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules regarding
such continuing connected transactions. As the Board has
approved the continuing connected transactions of the
Company and the Independent Non-executive Directors have
confirmed that the terms of the Kuangmao Framework
Agreement are fair and reasonable, on normal commercial terms
and in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole, Kuangmao Framework Agreement is subject to annual
review, reporting and announcement requirements, but
exempted from circular, independent financial advice and
Shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of
the Listing Rules.

The loans provided by Guangzhou Kuangmao to Xiefeng for the
year ended 31 December 2023 were RMB931,000,000 (2022:
RMB931,000,000).
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()

(i)

A property management services framework agreement
dated 28 September 2022 was entered into between the
Company and China Minmetals whereby the Group would
provide property management services to China Minmetals
Group for the period from 28 September 2022 to
27 September 2023 (“China Minmetals Framework
Agreement ).

The annual caps of the property management services fees
payable by China Minmetals Group to the Group in
respect of China Minmetals Framework Agreement | for the
period from 28 September 2022 to 31 December 2022 and
for the period from 1 January 2023 to 27 September 2023
were RMB16,000,000 and RMB24,000,000 respectively. As all
the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the property
management services fees payable by China Minmetals
Group under China Minmetals Framework Agreement |
were less than 5%, China Minmetals Framework
Agreement | was subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

The aggregate sum of property management services fees
paid by China Minmetals Group to the Group for the
period from 1 January 2023 to 27 September 2023 under
China Minmetals Framework Agreement | was
RMB18,787,465 (2022: RMB3,730,429).

The China Minmetals Framework Agreement | expired on
27 September 2023.

A property management services framework agreement
dated 28 September 2023 was entered into between the
Company and China Minmetals for the renewal of China
Minmetals Framework Agreement | whereby the Group
would provide property management services to China
Minmetals Group for the period from 28 September 2023
to 27 September 2026 (“China Minmetals Framework
Agreement 1I").
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The annual caps for the property management services
fees payable by China Minmetals Group to the Group in
respect of the China Minmetals Framework Agreement II
for the period from 28 September 2023 to 31 December
2023, for each of the two years ending 31 December 2024
and 2025 and for the period from 1 January 2026 to 27
September 2026 were RMB9,000,000, RMB48,260,000,
RMB49,550,000 and RMB37,600,000 respectively. As all the
applicable percentage ratios in respect of the property
management services fees payable by China Minmetals
Group under China Minmetals Framework Agreement ||
were less than 5%, China Minmetals Framework
Agreement Il was subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

The aggregate sum of property management services fees
paid by China Minmetals Group to the Group for the
period from 28 September 2023 to 31 December 2023
under China Minmetals Framework Agreement Il was
RMB6,243,994 (2022: N/A).

A property management services framework agreement dated 28
September 2022 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Properties Hunan (a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, which is owned as to 51% and 49% by the
Company and 23rd Metallurgical respectively) whereby
Minmetals Properties Hunan would provide property
management services to the Group for the period from 28
September 2022 to 27 September 2025 (“Minmetals Properties
Hunan Framework Agreement”).
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The annual cap for the property management services fees
payable by the Group to the Minmetals Properties Hunan in
respect of the Minmetals Properties Hunan Framework
Agreement (including but not limited to pre-delivery property
management services provided by Minmetals Properties Hunan
to the Group included in the pre-delivery property management
service contracts entered into by the Company on 31 January
2022) for the period from 28 September 2022 to 31 December
2022, for each of the two years ending 31 December 2023 and
2024 and for the period from 1 January 2025 to 27 September
2025 were RMB33,090,000, RMB29,290,000, RMB28,610,000 and
RMB17,350,000 respectively. As all the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the property management services fees
payable by the Group under Minmetals Properties Hunan
Framework Agreement were less than 5%, Minmetals Properties
Hunan Framework Agreement was subject to annual review,
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from
circular, independent financial advice and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of property management services fees paid
by the Group to Minmetals Properties Hunan for the year ended
31 December 2023 was RMB7,601,489 (2022: RMB7,985,124).

An engineering consultancy services framework agreement dated
13 June 2023 was entered into between the Company and
Minmetals Land Holdings (an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of China Minmetals) whereby the Group would
provide engineering consultancy services to Minmetals Land
Holdings and its subsidiaries (“Minmetals Land Holdings Group”)
for the engineering and construction projects bidden and won
by Minmetals Land Holdings Group for the period from 13 June
2023 to 12 June 2026 (“Consultancy Agreement”).

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 096

\

RIEREMZENMIERTZ (BIEETR
RAQNRR=—_E-_—F—A=+—HE
VZRNAEEERBER® AR
MERERAEBIRENINIIWES
EBRK)  AKBER_ZT_—_FhLA=-+
NEBEZE-_—_F+-A=+—HIH
M B2 -=FkK=-ZT-_NF+=
A=t—HIMEAFER-_ZE-_HF—
B—HBE-_ZE-_AFAA-t+tAHIH
MAEZ N FRBEDE VB WEEER
HEBRBFE LR 5433090000 TAR
& + 29,290,0007C A R ~ 28,610,0007T A
R 17,350,000t AREE - MR ATE
MEREREE T AEEA N o
ERRBERAGECEAT D LEHY D
5% - AEYMEREIELBHRAET
MRAEEFTEEN  AREREZR
T BERPET EMRAUAEBEX -
B MR R MBI RERE R -

REE-ZE-_=F+-_A=+—HILF
B AEEINTREVE R Z2DE
EERSE BB A7601,48970 ARE
(ZE - —F 17985124 ARK) »

R-ZBE-=#XA+=0 XAFAHA
BHMEZER(RTPERBEHEEZEEEE
BB A R]) 8] S TAR 8 A RIS HE AR 1%

Bt AEEAR T _=FA+=
A - "FA+ZBHHE - 5tH
BRI EZER N EME QR ([ B E
ERER]) PIRZIERIERMRE

Hb E PR AR 5R B IR TR2 KA RS ([763A
wheEl)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



The annual caps for the engineering consultancy services fees
payable by Minmetals Land Holdings Group in respect of
Consultancy Agreement for the period from 13 June 2023 to 31
December 2023, for each of the two years ending 31 December
2024 and 2025 and for the period from 1 January 2026 to 12
June 2026 were RMB15,000,000, RMB20,000,000, RMB20,000,000
and RMB5,000,000 respectively. As all the applicable percentage
ratios in respect of the engineering consultancy services fees
payable by Minmetals Land Holdings Group under the
Consultancy Agreement were less than 5%, the Consultancy
Agreement was subject to annual review, reporting and
announcement requirements, but exempted from circular,
independent financial advice and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the Listing Rules.

The aggregate sum of engineering consultancy services fees paid
by Minmetals Land Holdings Group to the Group for the period
from 13 June 2023 to 31 December 2023 was RMB1,886,792
(2022: N/A).

The related party transactions except those with joint ventures,
associates and persons connected with insignificant subsidiaries
as disclosed in note 38(a) to the consolidated financial
statements also fall under the definition of connected transaction
or continuing connected transactions within the meaning of the
Listing Rules, and the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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ANNUAL REVIEW OF CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A55 of the Listing Rules, the above continuing
connected transactions (“Continuing Connected Transactions”) have
been reviewed by the Independent Non-executive Directors who have
confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions were carried
out:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Company
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent
third parties; and

(c)  in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s independent auditor, Ernst & Young, was engaged to
report on the Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
"Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter containing its
findings and conclusions in respect of the Continuing Connected
Transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 82 to 97 of this Annual
Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of
the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

The transactions set out in paragraphs 1, 9, 12 and 14 of the section
“Continuing Connected Transactions” above are considered as contracts
of significance under paragraph 16 of Appendix D2 of the Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO
RULES 13.18 AND 13.21 OF THE LISTING
RULES

B LELHRAE1318%KR
BQIEZHREMEH 2 FE
RE

Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as the
guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the
grant of general banking facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$150,000,000 (“Facility 1) on 26 October 2017. Facility | is
subject to annual review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility I, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall maintain
remain the single largest shareholder of the Company
maintaining (directly or indirectly) not less than 31%
shareholding interest of and has management control over the
Company. Upon a breach of the aforesaid condition, all amounts
due under Facility | shall be immediately due and payable and
the Bank shall not be required to make any further advances
under Facility | to Condo Hong Kong.

Condo Hong Kong as the borrower and the Company as the
guarantor, accepted the offer from a bank (the “Bank”) for the
renewal of general banking facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$70,000,000 (“Facility II") on 1 March 2019. Facility Il is subject
to annual review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility I, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall remain
the single largest Shareholder of the Company maintaining
(directly or indirectly) not less than 31% shareholding interest of
and has management control over the Company. Upon a breach
of any of the aforesaid conditions, all amounts due under Facility
Il shall be immediately due and payable and the Bank shall not
be required to make any further advances under Facility Il to
Condo Hong Kong.
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OFL as the borrower, the Company and MLI as the guarantors and
certain banks as lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a term loan
facility agreement for a 4-year term loan facility (“Facility IllI") in
the principal amount of HK$6,000,000,000 on 20 January 2020
(“Facility Agreement III").

Pursuant to Facility Agreement Ill, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall beneficially owned
(directly or indirectly) at least 51% equity interests of and has
management control over the Company. A breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions would constitute an event of default and the
Lenders may (i) cancel all commitments under Facility
Agreement Ill; and/or (ii) demand that all or part of the loans
together with accrued interest and all other amounts accrued
under Facility lll be immediately due and payable; and/or (iii)
demand that all or part of the loans under the Facility Ill be
payable on demand.

The Company as the borrower and certain banks as lenders (the
“Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for the granting by
the Lenders to the Company of a 4-year term loan facility (the
“Facility IV") in an aggregate amount equal to HK$3,500,000,000
on 17 June 2022 (the “Facility Agreement IV").

Pursuant to Facility Agreement IV, China Minmetals, the ultimate
controlling shareholder of the Company, shall own beneficially
(directly or indirectly) not less than 51% of the issued shares of
the Company and have management control over the Company.
A breach of any of the aforesaid conditions would constitute an
event of default and the Lenders may (i) cancel all commitments
under Facility Agreement IV; and/or (ii) demand that all or part of
the loans together with accrued interest and all other amounts
accrued under Facility IV be immediately due and payable; and/
or (iii) demand that all or part of the loans under Facility IV be
payable on demand.
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The Company as the borrower and certain financial institutions as
lenders (the “Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for the
granting by the Lenders to the Company of a 3-year term loan
facility (the “Facility V") in an aggregate amount equal to
HK$970,000,000 on 3 February 2023 (the “Facility Agreement V").

As one of the conditions of Facility V, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, shall, amongst
other things, beneficially (directly or indirectly) own not less than
51% of the issued shares of the Company and have control over
the Company. Upon a breach of any of the aforesaid conditions
would constitute an event of default and Lenders may (i) cancel
all commitments under Facility Agreement V; and/or (ii) demand
that all or part of the loans together with accrued interest and all
other amounts accrued under Facility V be immediately due and
payable; and/or (iii) demand that all or part of the loans under
Facility V be payable on demand; and/or (iv) exercise any or all of
its rights, remedies, powers or discretions under the Facility
Agreement V.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the “Bank”) for a revolving loan facility in an aggregate amount
of HK$700,000,000 on 2 May 2023 (“Facility VI"). Facility VI has no
fixed term and is subject to periodic review of the Bank.

As one of the conditions of Facility VI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling Shareholder, shall maintain, directly or
indirectly, 51% of the issued share capital of the Company and
maintain control over the Company. Upon a breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions, Facility VI is repayable in full amount on
demand by the Bank.

The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank
(the “Bank”) for a 1-year revolving loan facility in an aggregate
amount of RMB1,000,000,000 on 29 May 2023 (“Facility VII").

As one of the conditions of Facility VI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling Shareholder, shall maintain, directly or
indirectly, 51% of the issued share capital of the Company and
maintain control over the Company. Upon a breach of any of the
aforesaid conditions, Facility VIl is repayable in full amount on
demand by the Bank.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EHEFERE

8. The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank 8. RIZE-_=F+A=+—H KQFE
(the “Bank”) for a 1-year revolving loan facility in an aggregate BIEFRA - BENE KRBT ((ZRT))
amount of HK$1,500,000,000 on 31 July 2023 (“Facility VIII"). TR 4258 51,500,000,00078 70,2 —F HATE

REREE ((REEEN]) -
As one of the conditions of Facility VIl China Minmetals, the ERMEBEN 2 ER —IBEY - FE
ultimate controlling Shareholder, shall beneficially owned hiE(REEERERR) ZER (B
(directly or indirectly) at least 51% interest of and has ) HBEARAIZ DS 1% - AR
management control over the Company. Upon a breach of any EARRNRZEERRE - FER LA —
of the aforesaid conditions, Facility VI is repayable in full EEM - AZIRITAI 2R BEERE
amount on demand by the Bank. BEN -

9. The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank 9. RIZZE-_=FAA+—8 AQFHEA

(the “Bank”) for a 1-year revolving loan facility in an aggregate BRA - BENE KRBT ((ZRTD R
amount of HK$1,800,000,000 on 11 September 2023 (the “Facility HAB%A 51,800,000,00078 7T 2 —F EATEIR
IX"). ExBEE(REBEEND -
As one of the conditions of Facility IX, China Minmetals, the ERBMEABE L2 R —IBEY - FE
ultimate controlling Shareholder, shall beneficial owned (directly hE (BT R) & (B EE)
or indirectly) at least 51% interest of and has management EmFAEARAI R0 - ARE
control over the Company. Upon a breach of any of the EARRNRZEERRE - FER LiE A —
aforesaid conditions, Facility IX is repayable in full amount on TEEG - AZRITAIEREHEEZR
demand by the Bank. BEEN -

10.  The Company as the borrower accepted the offer from a bank 10 RZE—=F+=-_A=+1B ' &R

(the “Bank”) for a 364-days revolving loan facility in an aggregate ERERA BN — KRBT (fE?fETTJ)
amount of HK$780,000,000 on 29 December 2023 (the “Facility TR 450 /5780,000,0007% 7T 2 364 R TEER
X"). ExgEE(RmEREETD -
As one of the conditions of Facility X, China Minmetals, the ERBMAERE T2 P —IBEY - R
ultimate controlling Shareholder, shall beneficially owned AE(BERRARZHEERER)E (B
(directly or indirectly) at least 51% interest of and has BB ESRBEARRR RIS 1%E
management control over the Company. Upon a breach of any w=CUARBEARRRCERE - FER
of the aforesaid conditions, the Facility X is repayable in full LR —IE R - BIZERITRI Esk 2
amount on demand by the Bank. HEEZMEEE T -
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11. The Company as the borrower and certain banks as lenders (the
“Lenders”) entered into a facility agreement for the granting by
the Lenders to the Company of a 2-year term loan facility (the
“Facility XI") in an aggregate amount equal to HK$2,600,000,000
on 16 January 2024 (the “Facility Agreement XI").

As one of the conditions of Facility XI, China Minmetals, the
ultimate controlling Shareholder, shall beneficially owned
(directly or indirectly) not less than 51% of the issued share of
the Company and have management control over the Company.
Upon a breach of any of the aforesaid conditions would
constitute an event of default and Lenders may (i) cancel all
commitments under the Facility Agreement XlI; and/or (ii)
demand that all or part of the loans, together with accrued
interest, and all other amounts accrued under the Facility XI be
immediately due and payable; and/or (i) demand that all or part
of the loans under the Facility XI be payable on demand.

Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other disclosure
obligations under Rules 13.18 and 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the notices submitted to the Company pursuant to the SFO,
the Directors are of the view that sufficient public float exists for the
issued Shares as at the date of this Annual Report.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed with the
independent auditor the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and has also discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control, and financial reporting matters
including the review of the accounting practices and principles
adopted by the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HEHGHG

CHANGE OF AUDITOR

Ernst & Young was appointed as the independent auditor of the Group
by Shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 27 May 2021
upon the retirement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu at the conclusion of
the annual general meeting held on the same date. Ernst & Young
retires and, being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution
for re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the independent auditor of the
Group is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements as contained in this Annual
Report have been audited by Ernst & Young.

By order of the Board
He Jianbo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T 3 % BB e

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY::

To the shareholders of Minmetals Land Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Minmetals
Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out
on pages 115 to 295, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T 3 A B

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

BREZEE

FEREFZEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BHNEZNMHEAREXSRETEE

Valuation of investment properties

BREMRMEE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's investment properties
were measured at fair value amounted to HK$2,806 million.
Decrease of HKS2 million in fair value of investment
properties was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for the year then ended.
RZZEZ=F+-_A=+—H EXERAAEFEZ
% & W) 3 52,806,000,0007 7T - R E WM E A R BER D
20000008 TERBEZ B ILFEZFEIBRmRER

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter because the valuation process is based on
an estimation of future results, a set of assumptions and a
determination of key inputs, which are judgmental. Any
changes to these inputs may have a significant impact on
the fair value. Management determined the fair value of the
Group's investment properties as at 31 December 2023
with the assistance of an independent external valuer.
BHARKREDERLEINAEREZER  REARGE
BETIARREBZ 2B —EBRRRETZ2EZHA
BEREAR  FRARZEENAENLEE - ZF8HABIE
ZEMEBSOREHAABENEATE - EEELES
VHNEMAERIZ BB T EEESREREMENR_TZ
=Ft+ZRA=+—BZAnE-"

Details of the investment properties and the related key
estimation uncertainty are set out in notes 15 and 3,
respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.
BRAREMENEBEERAFT TARRRZFED B
RERB MR 15 K3 -
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Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of
investment properties mainly included:

B EREEHREMELERTZCEFFERRUTE
HIZfF :

1. Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the external valuer engaged by management;
B A EREMZTENIINDEERM AR - B
REBIML

2. Obtaining a copy of the valuation report prepared by
the external valuer and discussing with the external
valuer to obtain an understanding of the basis of
determination of valuation; and
HPIER1S B R ERD AR AV (R E 3RS - W B HMED
HERERNA T B EEREXRE M

3. Assessing, with the assistance from our internal valuation
specialists, the models and assumptions used in valuing
the investment properties and obtaining the market
evidence that the external valuer used to support the
key inputs.

EHRMNOABEEZIROBE T FHEREMEM
EFTE A EA FRER - WERRINEBEERD AR X
ARG ABBNTISERE -

ARBERRDA



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T 3 A B

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

BREZEE

FAREFZEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANEZNMHEAREXSRETEE

Revenue from sales of properties

HEMREA

Revenue from sales of a property is recognised when the
completed property is transferred to the customer, being at
the point that the customer obtains the control of the
completed property and the Group has present right to
payment and collection of the consideration is probable.
HEMERATDNRERIMEEREZFK (AIEF NG
R )3 PR | I 5 ok B R R NI MR A SR BL B AT RE LI
BMREZ ) #ER -

For the year ended 31
recognised

December 2023, the Group
revenue from sales of properties of
approximately HK$11,808 million.

HE T =F+-_A=+—BItFEE"
& ¥ E WA 4911,808,000,0007 7T, ©

BB HERH

We identified the revenue from sales of properties as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the amount and
volume of sales transactions recognised during the year and
there is judgement involved in determining the appropriate
point at which to recognise revenue from sales of
properties.
HRFARRNHEXZ2RNBENEZ T - HME
MEHEWARTESBAREAFIE  TAEETER
IHE W B B R B A O I HI R -

Details of revenue from sales of properties are set out in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRAHEMFBAFBENERE MWK EES -

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED
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Our procedures in relation to revenue from sales of properties
mainly included:

BFILEENEBARTZREFEZERE

1. Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and testing
the key controls over revenue recognition on a sample
basis; and
TR EYBBMERASENAEREENEER
P A

2. Selecting property sales transactions on a sample basis

and:

BEAMEHKENEHERS - X H

(1) reading the signed sale and purchase agreements
to obtain an understanding of the relevant terms
of the timing of property delivery and title
transfer;
FECEZEE R  UTREYEIMNKRBR
FREEENBEBGNK

obtaining evidence regarding the property
delivery and title transfer;

B MR R RGEE

reviewing the relevant supporting documents in
relation to the property delivery to buyers prior to
the year end, to assess whether the revenue has
been recognised in an appropriate period; and
EHFERAM BRIV EAAEREFE R
AFHEWARBEHEE BREER M

reconciling the monetary amounts of recorded
transactions and related payments to those in the
signed sale and purchase agreements.
RERBXINEESRLBENREDS RS
BEEWHYR -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

BREZEE

FEREFZEE @)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BHNEZNMHEAREXSRETEE

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale

BRTUERSELENENTERFEE

Properties under development and properties held for sale
at the end of each reporting period are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value.
REMEPRERDPYERFFELEWRIRBOAREA] &
RREPHREE AR -

Net realisable value of properties under development is
determined by reference to estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less estimated costs to
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sales. Net realisable value of properties held for sale is
determined by reference to estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sales.
BERAPYENAIZRFENZ2EATEKBEFOMET
EERGF T IR ARETHEMFNGTRAEE -
FELEMENAIBRFEN2EREEBRRET MG
AAEBERETHEMTHNMAKRETE -

Our procedures in relation to net realisable value of properties

under development and properties held for sale mainly

included:
B EEERPDERBIELEMEANERFERITC
BFeiE:
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Obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and testing
the key controls over cost budgeting for estimated
costs to completion;

THE - FELAFRGEF T IR AR AFEENEE
I

Assessing the reasonableness of estimated selling prices
by comparing the management’s estimated selling price
to the recent average contracted selling price in the
same project or the prevailing market price of
comparable properties with similar type, size and
location;
FRBHEREGANEERIMERIERNETH
FHEEHMRERE KN RENEBYENE
AT EETHR U EAEERETSIE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T 3 A B

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

BREZEE

FEREFZEE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANEZNMEEAREXSRETEE

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale (Continued)

BRTUERFELEWENTERFE(E)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's properties under
development and properties held for sale amounted to
HK$33,602 million. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group recognised impairment losses of HK$503 million
on properties under development and properties held for
sale.

RZBZ=F+ZA=+—H ' ESENZEEFIER
e &Y% A33,602,0000008T c BE-_T-_=F+
“RE+—BILEE  ESERBRPUERBELE
1) 2 #E SRR 1B &5 #8.503,000,0007 7T ©

We identified the net realisable value for properties under
development and properties held for sale as a key audit
matter as a significant management estimate is required in
assessing the net realisable value.
HRTEIEEFETEEAETEEGE B HA
BRPYELRFELENEN TR FEERBREZ
EX

Details of net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale are set out in
notes 20 and 3, respectively, to the consolidated financial
statements.

RE M mRAM E20%3 -

MINMETALS LAND LIMITED
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Assessing the reasonableness of estimated costs
necessary to make the sales by comparing with the
average historical expense rate of the Group, and
reviewing the supporting documents of the
adjustments that management made according to
historical data; and
FREEEENBETHERETHLER - FHEET
HEMBZMMFRANEGEYE  WEMEEERE
BEEFRETABRNIFIEXH &

Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated costs to
completion by comparing the latest estimated costs to
completion to the budget approved by management
and examining the supporting documents such as
construction contracts, internal correspondence and
approvals.
BAHNREFNBRA T INAREEREL ENTEE
ARBEXFEXH (EEER - AEBRENARE
B A ERA T IR AEREE °
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

—T-=%% i

A2\

HttERBRERNFRA

EATESAUEMENAE - AR D
EERNOER - BT BEGAHBEER
BB B -

BMEEEMBEHRENBERLNRERLME
B ZATM A HZEFEMERBERETAEA
HYEE 5 A5

BARMEEAMBRRNESZ  RMANE
ERMEREMER  EURRET  ZEEME
BELEFEMBRRIERMAEFTZERET
TR RAFEEREBREUFFEE
REERRANFER - ERBADHITOHTIE
MREMRBREMENFESAHERRL
BMBERESZEE - HEHE - RFPREE
EEE

EERGEMBRRAEEN

B

BERRESAAARBEREEGMASHEM
HCE B M B RS ERL) LB ECRTHEGD
BEAETRUEEMTBENGEAMBERE
VTHERRBEEEVBRROBRIFER
REFFRERMEBNBEAERRAFTFH
AEEHIBE -

EREGAVBBRRE  ERAREFART
HEKRERBBERLENED  YEERBERT
BEASBKEAMNER  URERRHE
REREFER RIERRAEFAENE
SEBRIFILEE  HBEEMBERNE
WIE X

BERRESHEERZRESENMB TRITRE
EEESENMBRERE

m B

ARBERRDA



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T 3 A B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act
1981,
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STA

TEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

compl

ied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
T 3 A B

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Kwok Yin.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AR H IR

Year ended 31 December 2023 HEZZ-_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—EBE-=F — g
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
B 5 FET T T
REVENUE A 5 12,630,739 10,064,529
Cost of sales HEKA (10,458,171) (9,011,215)
Gross profit ERX 2,172,568 1,053,314
Other income H A 6 103,892 126,839
Fair value changes on investment REMEAREEZS
properties 15 (2,284) (68,814)
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHER (416,249) (394,500)
Administrative and other expenses TR REMAS (588,659) (582,408)
Allowance for impairment of inventories 1% & J& (& 5 5 7 (503,034) (550,403)
Impairment losses (recognised)/reversed ~ FEHA{E EEBIRAIIE R
under expected credit loss model, net (FER) /&2
BB R IR FEE 10 (173,661) 1,145
Finance income B LN 8 184,386 178,863
Finance costs BF 75 R AN 8 (477,416) (138,144)
Share of results of associates PaN fap i /N B 17 (209,869) (786,422)
Share of results of joint ventures DIEEE QR EE 18 33,889 137,773
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BRBLATREF(EE) 7 123,563 (1,022,757)
Income tax expense FriS R > 11 (649,249) (337,467)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEEBE (525,686) (1,360,224)
(Loss)/profit for the year TEE (FE) E5F
attributable to: BER :
Equity holders of the Company RARIRERE A (1,015,518) (1,362,468)
Holders of perpetual capital KABARTEFEEA
instruments — 45,197
Non-controlling interests FEPERR AR R 42(b) 489,832 (42,953)
(525,686) (1,360,224)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE KRB REFEAELZ
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF BREE B
THE COMPANY, IN HK CENTS
Basic AR 13 (30.34) (40.71)
Diluted e 13 (30.34) 40.71)
—E-—FR 115 TEMERRA A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A 7 E 2 % S At 2 i WA 2 A%

Year ended 31 December 2023 EHEZZ-=F+=-A=1+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E== —E-_—
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B = FTER FHET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEEEE (525,686) (1,360,224)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE His 2 E X H
Other comprehensive (expense)/income & EHE AL EFDEE
that may be reclassified to profit or loss Bz z Eb2mE (i),
in subsequent periods: I NE
Currency translation differences MW ZE7 (366,903) (2521,773)
Fair value (loss)/gain on hedging REMEFOEFTE 2
instruments in cash flow hedges RAME (E18) W 26 (28,861) 54,709
Share of other comprehensive expense D {h B2 A & E 2
of associates X 17 (30,840) (249,951)
Share of other comprehensive expense  D{h& & A G E M2
of joint ventures X 18 (4,347) (23,784)
(430,951) (2,740,799)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income EBEHMTAESEFHFHES
that will not be reclassified to profit or Bz EMemE (i),
loss in subsequent periods: N
Gain on revaluation of owner-occupied  EF(hAYWEEBEIRE
properties upon transfer to M 1% 2 B E
investment properties — 2,726
Fair value loss on financial assets at fair ~ F@EMEEUWRZSIZ AR
value through other comprehensive Bt B UM BEEME
income EZ R ERE 19 (222,309) (182,343)
(222,309) (179,617)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE AEERBAREAIETE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (653,260) (2,920,416)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE FOR 7k 4 & 2 [ & 1 40 58
THE YEAR (1,178,946) (4,280,640)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ AEEEZE(ZH) WA
income for the year attributable to: EHEFEBERA :
Equity holders of the Company RATREFEA (1,532,460) (3,133,994)
Holders of perpetual capital KABERTEFEEA
instruments — (162,576)
Non-controlling interests FEPE IR AR R 2 353,514 (984,070)
(1,178,946) (4,280,640)
MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 116 ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A IR DL AR

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2023 2022
—=E=-= —E-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHExT FETT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB ME 14 677,511 662,273
Investment properties REYHE 15 2,806,263 2,774,432
Interests in associates NN ol s 17 2,028,924 2,269,633
Interests in joint ventures RE&ERE 2B 18 333,897 341,852
Financial assets at fair value through EREMEEABSEARE
other comprehensive income FrECMBEE 19 179,119 401,428
Other financial assets BB sEE 26 — 31,270
Other receivables E b fE Y GRIA 7,775 9,039
Deferred tax assets BETIBE E 30 458,949 754,807
Total non-current assets EMENE EETE 6,492,438 7,244,734
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories EA 20 33,601,789 39,506,138
Prepayments, trade and other receivables FEfTFUIA « B 5 & H b B UK
IR 21 8,821,507 11,009,807
Prepaid income tax AT RIS 729,270 818,011
Contract assets BHEE 22 191,082 144,360
Contract costs BRI 23 222,274 238,300
Other financial assets BB s EE 26 2,409 —
Cash and bank deposits, restricted ZBRHI3E & RIRITF K 24 103,640 724,314
Cash and bank deposits, unrestricted IEBRFIR S RIBITHFR 25 3,410,744 7,701,361
Total current assets MBNE EARRE 47,082,715 60,142,291
Total assets EELAE 53,575,153 67,387,025
EQUITY R
Share capital AR A 27 334,691 334,691
Reserves i 28 4,952,378 6,484,838
Equity attributable to equity holders Z\2 T REEH AEGZ
of the Company s 5,287,069 6,819,529
Non-controlling interests FEERBRER 42(b) 9,060,576 9,992,569
Total equity B 14,347,645 16,812,098
—E-—FR 117 hiEESRAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A B B R A

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2023 2022
:g: = ="
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 2 FET T T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kERBEE
Borrowings B; 29 8,093,545 17,176,328
Other payables H B 5 5RI8 37 229,080 250,256
Deferred tax liabilities RLETIEAE 30 204,910 316,495
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 2,707 10,021
Total non-current liabilities ERE B EERE 8,530,242 17,753,100
CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE
Borrowings B 29 15,223,126 7,132,439
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk E b FE T 5K IE 31 9,114,886 13,581,206
Contract liabilities EHEE 32 5,706,814 11,415,551
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 3,720 18,893
Taxation payable FE IR 648,720 673,738
Total current liabilities mE)BELR 30,697,266 32,821,827
Total liabilities BEE%5E 39,227,508 50,574,927
Total equity and liabilities ERREEHE 53,575,153 67,387,025
Net current assets REBEEFE 16,385,449 27,320,464
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERRBERE 22,877,887 34,565,198
He Jianbo Al 1 % Chan Xingwu R # &
Director &= Director &%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

& B BE i 5 Y 5%

Year ended 31 December 2023 HEZZ-_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders
of the Company

RRATRERA AEL
Perpetual Non-
Share capital  controlling Total
capital Reserves Total instruments interests equity
KABR FEERARR
& 7R G e TA B RERAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
(note 27) (note 28) (note 42(b))
(FizE27)  (Bi&E28) (Ft 5E42(b))
At 1 January 2022 R_ZE-_—_F—A—H 334,691 9,685,770 10,020,461 2448182 10,649,268  23,117911
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER),RmF — (1362468 (1,362468) 45,197 (42,953)  (1,360,224)
Other comprehensive expense FREMEPEZ N
for the year —  (1,771,526) (1,771,526) (207,773) (941,117)  (2,920/416)
Total comprehensive expense for the AEERTEEEZ L
year, net of tax ok - (3,133,994)  (3,133,994) (162,576) (984,070)  (4,280,640)
Contributions from non-controlling BT A Bl 2 FEIER AR 2
shareholders of subsidiaries AE = — — — 491,923 491,923
Repayment of perpetual capital BEKABATA
instruments — — —  (2,238,800) —  (2,238,800)
Distributions paid to holders of FXABATEREEA
perpetual capital instruments SR ZEE = = = (46,806) = (46,806)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the  [RIAARIBRESFZEKE
Company (note 12) (BFzE12) — (66,938) (66,938) — — (66,938)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling M—RMEARZ—%
shareholder of a subsidiary R R A 2 IR B — — — — (164,552)  (164,552)
At 31 December 2022 R-T__F
+=-—A=+—H 334,691 6,484,838 6,819,529 — 9,992,569 16,812,098
—E-=FR 119 TEMESRAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

R RS

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE—ZT—=

F+-A=t+—HLFE

Attributable to equity holders

of the Company

RATIRERFE AEM,
Non-
Share controlling Total
capital Reserves Total interests equity
FERRR
[ e i & S aE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER FTEx TER TER FTEx
(note 27) (note 28) (note 42(b))
(Ki&F27) (KizF28) (KizE42(b))
At 1 January 2023 R-ZT-=#—A—A 334,691 6,484,838 6,819,529 9,992,569 16,812,098
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE),/EF —  (1,015518)  (1,015,518) 489,832 (525,686)
Other comprehensive expense FREMEZEZH
for the year — (516,942) (516,942) (136,318) (653,260)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ AEERFEE2E (ZH)/
income for the year, net of tax WA 4a5a - (1,532,460) (1,532,460) 353,514 (1,178,946)
Capital reduction paid to non- Bt 2R B 2 FEFE AR AR R 2
controlling shareholders of HE
subsidiaries — — — (86,617) (86,617)
Dividends paid to non-controlling EENEING P
shareholders of subsidiaries T2 E — — —  (1,198,890)  (1,198,890)
At 31 December 2023 i S
+-A=1— 334,691 4,952,378 5,287,069 9,060,576 14,347,645
MINMETALS LAND LIMITED 120 ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A Bl il B

Year ended 31 December 2023 HEZZ-_=F+=-A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —=ET-=
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
Bt 5 FExT FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REFDHERE
ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from/(used in) operations #&%& ¥MSFTES,(FTA)
Be 35(a) 2,146,711 (1,458,801)
Income tax paid B ATER (409,323) (648,118)
Interest paid EIFE (1,315,888) (958,523)
Net cash flows generated from/ RESERRELE (FTA)
(used in) operating activities REeRETFE 421,500 (3,065,442)
CASH FLOWS FROM REZHHRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and BEWME - BE LEHE
equipment (56,393) (5,909)
Proceeds on disposals of property, plant  HEWE - BE LR EFE
and equipment KB 214 824
Additions of investment properties RNBREYE (45,457) (2,949)
Net cash inflow on acquisition of assets ~ WEE B EIR &R AFHE 34 — 30
Investment in a joint venture R—RKEERAZKE (385) —
Repayment from an associate BRE —REE AT 3,801 8,171
Repayments from joint ventures BREEE AT 207,953 43,867
Repayments from/(advances to) non- BEa,/ (EF)HEAR
controlling shareholders of subsidiaries 2 FEERR AR R 1,006,368 (702,214)
Repayment from/(advance to) a fellow BRE/(BET)—RAR
subsidiary By E=NG] 2,687 (2,687)
Interest received B2 WFE 184,386 178,863
Net cash flows generated from/ REZBFREE(FiA)
(used in) investing activities REREFHE 1,303,174 (481,954)
—g-=4%g é EREEARAT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FaBanEk

Year ended 31 December 2023 EHEZZ-=F+=-A=1+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —ET-__F
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
B 5 FExT AT

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERE

ACTIVITIES
New borrowings g A 7,989,714 3,364,751
Repayments of borrowings BEERK (8,978,736) (1,004,924)
(Repayments to)/advances from fellow (B T) / 2EARRHE

subsidiaries A A] 35(b) (2,423,040) 1,615,603
Advance from a joint venture REH—REERH 35(b) — 19,086
Repayments to associates BT HEE A A 35(b) (1,012,462) (233,189)
Repayments to non-controlling BT B AR 2 3EER

shareholders of subsidiaries fi&% 3R 35(b) (178,459) (11,304)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the RMAQNRBRRSZ 2 E

Company — (66,938)
Dividends paid to non-controlling M B8 A Bl 2 FEFERR AR R

shareholders of subsidiaries XAz BB (1,198,890) (164,552)
Repayment of perpetual capital EEXKAEARLA

instruments — (2,238,800)
Distributions paid to holders of perpetual [AIsk A B AT BB AR

capital instruments Z BB — (46,806)
Repayments of lease liabilities EEHEaE 35(b) (19,967) (36,240)
Contributions from non-controlling M B A Rz FEIERRAR R 2

shareholders of subsidiaries AE — 2,015
Capital reduction from non-controlling FT /88 A B 2 FE 42 AR AR 3R HU R

shareholders of subsidiaries FEN (86,617) —
Net cash flows (used in)/generated BMEETE (FTA) FEE

from financing activities BERETHE (5,908,457) 1,198,702
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReERATESENRD FE

CASH EQUIVALENTS (4,183,783) (2,348,694)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F# 2R & MRS EEY

of the year 7,701,361 10,956,126
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,  [E SR & B H) 52 28 % &

net (106,834) (906,071)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZBERATEEY

AT END OF THE YEAR 25 3,410,744 7,701,361
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 0 T 5 i B

31 December 2023

T =F+=ZA=+—H

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Minmetals Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in
real estate development, specialised construction and property
investment. The People’s Republic of China is the major market
for the Group's businesses.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The Company is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its immediate holding
company is June Glory International Limited (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands) and its ultimate holding company is China
Minmetals Corporation (“China Minmetals") (incorporated in
Mainland China).

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information section to the annual report.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). In addition, these financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for
investment properties, derivative financial instruments and equity
investments which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HKS" or
"HK dollar(s)") which is also the functional currency of the
Company, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

123

\#\

2.1

SEREBER
AEMEGRAR ([ARAR]) REHE
AR (REARE]) 2 EEXBREL
ERR BXRERMERE - PEA
RENMBARKEEBZETEMS

ARBB/—REAREETMAILZ AR
DA ARREBEBMERFAARR
A ([BERRpr]) £ - HEERERAR A
June Glory International Limited * —Z &£
RERLBSRINANTE - MHE&EE
RARIATEAEEEGRLE ([HE
BB —REFBERMBKIHAF -

ARREEM M EE N EBE BT
BRFEHRNIARENZH -

mRERE
ZEMBRRDERBRELEEFMAE
(IHFEEtMAg ) BB B M H
SR ((FAYBHREEA]) - SFEH
BEEEMBHREER  FE G ER
(IBEEFE RREB)MRE - 1t
Sh ZEMBHRREERZAES LT
AT EMRRA) REBRRRGIRE
HE R ER - MR DIRBEE LKA
EBORE(RAAEFENRENE
TEEBMTARBERERIN - ZF
MBHRERLAET (BT IE - TAA
REZINEER - BB BIEAEI - B
BEEEANBEREONTMER

ARBERRDA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 2.1 {REEXE @)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(©)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the equity holders of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first

time in the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction

International Tax Reform

— Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

125

\#\

2.1

2.2

im BEE ()

SERE WEE @)

fig 7~ 52 1B 2K = B A R 6 I 4 - BNl
RIFRZABEE (BIEE8)  BE -
A IR AR AR 25 R ONE R B 4 A
DUTARBI/EN DA BERFEELR
BRI A RS - LA
Hb 2 T Uk 24 T 2 1 2 2 B A 4L B B 5
NEFHBEBEAKRERA (4iE
) ErmAEEEEHERBEEE
5B BB A R R

BN RRRRESD

AEBRANFENPBRE P BRRBY
t‘:\

THEE TN BB 15 RS 2R -
EFeENE 1 SHHEERE
ok N BB B ISR
LEBEBHRAE
Eook v H)
gt ER DI 1A T
EXEvd )
BB g £l B — 35 5 FE A
F12% 2 1B5T BEKE EIHE
Y AERE T A
BB gt ER I FH o E — F
F125% 2 1ER] S RE A
hiEESRAT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023

T =F+=ZA=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (coNTINUED)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(@

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the
material accounting policy information in note 2.4 to the
financial statements. The amendments did not have any
impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation
of any items in the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined as
monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject
to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify
how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the Group's approach
and policy align with the amendments, the amendments
had no significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (conNTINUED)

(©

—T=FR

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the
scope of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so
that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such
as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments did not have any
significant impact on the measurement, recognition or
presentation of any items in the Group's financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected entities
to help users of the financial statements better understand
the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including
the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income
taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation
is effective and the disclosure of known or reasonably
estimable information of their exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted
or substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The Group
has not yet applied the temporary exception during the
current year because the entities comprising the Group are
operating in jurisdictions in which the Pillar Two tax law
has not yet been enacted or substantively enacted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not early adopted the following revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to adopt these revised HKFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
(the 2020 Amendments”)"*

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the 2022
Amendments’)" 4

Supplier Finance
Arrangements'

Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
£ No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
N As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification

by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand

Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in

conclusion

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from
the transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that associate
or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption
now. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group'’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be
applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered
into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e,
1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG 2.3 EEMHERAEMNE BB

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by a
right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with
early application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the 2022
Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of the amendments and whether existing loan
agreements may require revision. Based on a preliminary
assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements on
an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.
Earlier application of the amendments is permitted. The
amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at the
beginning of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall
be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of equity,
where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration test, on
a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all of
the fair values of the gross assets acquired are concentrated in a
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from the
effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test is met,
the set of activities and assets is determined not to be a
business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price to the individual identifiable assets
and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date
of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or
bargain purchase gain.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related
costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an
asset and a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benetfits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date;

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)
lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in
HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date
fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in
a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period
adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period” (which
cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on
how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at
subsequent reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group
obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior
to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in
other comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had disposed directly of the previously held equity
interest.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or fair value less costs of
disposal in HKAS 36 /Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that
at initial recognition, the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as below:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate or a
joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group'’s share of losses of an associate or a
joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint
venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained
interest is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of the
associate or joint venture and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest
in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture.
In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate or joint venture.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of
the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to
the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company that make strategic decisions.

=F®] 139

\

2.4 EREFBE @

BRERBEQATREE QT @)

ABE DRI 2 IREKRAREERTRZ
&é’ﬂ%é%ﬂﬂZ&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
ARIZZER AEBEEERAES
Eeo NIRZEHRERERENETEE
FETEARE-
HASEEROERBLEARHAE QT
CHEEESEAEEBESAER
e AAREBREEEBEERAER
el aEREEN S BEEE 2B
T SREIRZEHEEEERRD
i 7R L i 2 T U s T 2R 2 Wi e S S 1B 4%
LEplEF D= -

AER
ERAEITR %ﬁﬁ?iﬁ’]%@m@ﬁf\ﬁﬂw
BRRHAE R A A R A R B R
MEBERT » T EEAKENGE P BR
REER -

2 E
KEDE2REARNEREBZLERR
FREZAMBRET A~ - FHRB
REZARRBATEEREIBLERR
F BEORERIAZKLEDH 2K
38 o

ARBERRDA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”).

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of respective entities of the Group using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

—  Exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings
relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on
those foreign currency borrowings; and

—  Exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The results and financial position of all the group entities (none
of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

— assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of
the reporting period;

— income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss
are translated at average exchange rates (unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint venture or
an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the equity holders of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposal
of associates or joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets and
liabilities arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

—  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

—  the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to
a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable
represents the Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e.
only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depicts the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time
value of money if the timing of payments agreed (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the Group with
a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the promise of
financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction
price for any significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the
transfer of the associated goods or services in which the Group
adjusts for the promised amount of consideration for a
significant financing component, the Group applies a discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to
a customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the specified
goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange
for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (i.e.
the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange
for the provision of the specified good or service by another
party. In this case, the Group does not control the specified
good or service provided by another party before that good or
service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an
agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or
commission to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for
arranging for the specified goods or services to be provided by
the other party.

Contract costs

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would
not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset
if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis
that is consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods
or services to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would
otherwise have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one
year.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application or arising
from business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial statements
would not differ materially from individual leases within the
portfolio.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

=F®] 145

\

2.4 EREFBE @

HE

HERE S
HENRBRRREERCIENEER—
BRI AR E S 2 A - RIZA WA
ExEslE-

HRBEREARRZEIEEHA M
I HERTHBFEREHEHMEH - K
KSERBEEVWHEREERE165EE
E RRAKAE - ETEXEER (E
RFEeHNEER—EHEXRE —
AHE - BRIFBOIRRRIGRFRREE

8T  HRTEHUEAOETERT
fi o
FEEEBEAA

DEREEZEOAKEED

B AHEEKD U R —IRLZIAEINE
EXFHERINEOME - ARER
M EK D ARLIE B M IFHENX
DB ERABRTANRENIKES
HEXD

ERERBEZF  EAKEAERR
Bt BREANTERESAERE
EVEBBAZRE  AARMUSEWHE
ENmBAREEANR-

RHHERREEEERE

AEEKEHEERAMCEANEH
BFRABEHER2EASATHEE -
Ay TEREEEREE HIHEEE
BEHEERARRHL EHHHEREK
BEEEHEZHENTNERARNIRE
AR EMERC 2 R EBR R

ARBERRDA



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; and

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the
end of the useful life. The right-of-use assets are buildings which
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease terms of 3
to 5 years.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property or inventory in “property, plant
and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were
owned. Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property and inventory are presented within
“‘investment properties” and “inventories” respectively.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present
value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
when the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)
the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that
stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease incentives from lessor by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's ordinary
course of business are presented as revenue.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration
in a contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the basis of
their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the
head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The
sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with
reference to the underlying asset.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through
forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

Sale and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale by the
Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that satisfies the requirements as a sale, the Group
as a seller-lessee measures the right-of-use asset arising from the
leaseback at the proportion of the previous carrying amount of
the asset retained and recognises any gain or loss that relates to
the rights transferred to the buyer-lessor only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on
general borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred
revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
included in the “other income”.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repair and maintenance costs are
expensed in the profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to allocate
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

2%—-5%
Over the remaining period

Leasehold land and buildings
Leasehold improvements

of the lease
Machinery 5%-25%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 15%-25%

Motor vehicles 20%-30%
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Gain and loss on disposals are determined by comparing the

proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation (including properties under construction
for such purposes).

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets upon application of
HKFRS 16 and subleased by the Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating
lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has been changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any differences between the carrying amount and the fair value
of that item (including the relevant leasehold land classified as
right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained earnings.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. A
leased property which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is
derecognised if the Group as intermediate lessor classifies the
sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Investment properties (Continued)

Transfer from inventories to investment properties carried
at fair value

The Group transfers a property from inventories to investment
properties when there is a change in use to hold the property to
earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
inception of an operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer and
its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and contract costs with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets
are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXRETTBER @

(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and contract costs (Continued)
Before the Group recognises an impairment loss for assets
capitalised as contract costs under HKFRS 15, the Group assesses
and recognises any impairment loss on other assets related to
the relevant contracts in accordance with applicable standards.
Then, impairment loss, if any, for assets capitalised as contract
costs is recognised to the extent the carrying amounts exceeds
the remaining amount of consideration that the Group expects
to receive in exchange for related goods or services less the
costs which relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not been recognised as expenses. The assets
capitalised as contract costs are then included in the carrying
amount of the cash-generating unit to which they belong for the
purpose of evaluating impairment of that cash-generating unit.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and contract costs (Continued)
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying
amount of a group of cash-generating units, including the
carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In
allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of
the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) other than goodwill is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXRETTBER @

(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Inventories represent properties under development and
completed properties held for sale.

Properties under development which are intended to be sold
upon completion of development and properties for sale are
classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold land element
which is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets upon the application of
HKFRS 16, properties under development/properties for sale are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on a specific identification basis including allocation
of the related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for the properties less
estimated cost to completion and costs necessary to make the
sales.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
properties for sale upon completion.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value
through profit or loss, except that at initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking;
or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or fair
value through other comprehensive income as measured at fair
value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly

reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Investments in equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income are subsequently measured
at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in
fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are
not subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative
gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal of the equity investments, and will be transferred
to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”
line item in profit or loss.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including cash and
bank deposits and trade and other receivables), and other items
(lease receivables, contract assets and financial guarantee
contracts) which are subject to impairment assessment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment is done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables,
contract assets and lease receivables. The ECL on these assets are
assessed individually for debtors with significant increase in
credit risk or related parties and collectively for the rest using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:
an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’'s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;
significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;
existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;
an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;
an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet its
debt obligations.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(i1)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a debt instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i)
it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group
becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment is
considered to be the date of initial recognition for the
purposes of assessing impairment. In assessing whether
there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified
debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023

T =F+=ZA=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable,
the cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable
in accordance with HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder
for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023

T =F+=ZA=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the
effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that
are specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent
that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting the
discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered
on a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward-looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by recognising the
corresponding adjustment through a loss allowance
account, with the exception of financial guarantee
contracts where the Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss by adjusting their carrying amount.

Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which
the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at fair
value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to
retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXRETTBER @

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets (Continued)

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual cash
flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are modified, the
Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a substantial
modification from original terms taking into account all relevant
facts and circumstances including qualitative factors. If qualitative
assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any
fees received, and discounted using the original effective interest
rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset,
after reducing gross carrying amount that has been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial assets will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
assets’ original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial assets and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual capital instruments, which include no contractual
obligations for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets
or the Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of
distribution and redemption of principal amount indefinitely are
classified as equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including borrowings and trade and other
payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
their fair values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,

cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Derecognition/substantial modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assess whether the revised terms result in a
substantial modification from original terms taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative factors.
If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group considers
that the terms are substantially different if the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received, and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of
the original financial liability. Accordingly, such modification of
terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. The exchange or modification is considered as
non-substantial modification when such difference is less than 10
per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do
not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant
financial liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities” original effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees
incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term.
Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is
recognised in profit or loss at the date of modification.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting period.
The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments
for cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship, the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives
and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument is
highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

For the purpose of determining whether a forecast transaction
(or a component thereof) is highly probable, the Group assumes
that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged cash
flows (contractually or non-contractually specified) are based is
not altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform.

Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness

For hedge effectiveness assessment, the Group considers
whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of
the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

there is an economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument;

the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Assessment of hedging relationship and effectiveness

(Continued)
the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as
that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the
hedging instrument that the entity actually uses to hedge
that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness
requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management
objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the
same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging
relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the
qualifying criteria again.

In assessing the economic relationship between the hedged item
and the hedging instrument, the Group assumes that the interest
rate benchmark on which the hedged cash flows and/or the
hedged risk (contractually or non-contractually specified) are
based, or the interest rate benchmark on which the cash flows of
the hedging instrument are based, is not altered as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of cash flow hedging reserve. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

For the purpose of reclassifying the amount of gains and losses
accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve in order to
determine whether the hedged future cash flows are expected to
occur, the Group assumes the interest rate benchmark on which
the hedged cash flows (contractually or non-contractually
specified) are based is not altered as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Hedge accounting (Continued)

Cash flow hedges (Continued)

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in cash flow hedging reserve are reclassified to
profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit
or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item.

Discontinuation of hedge accounting

The Group discontinues hedge accounting prospectively only
when the hedging relationship (or a part thereof) ceases to meet
the qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This
includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is
sold, terminated or exercised. Discontinuing hedge accounting
can either affect a hedging relationship in its entirety or only a
part of it (in which case hedge accounting continues for the
remainder of the hedging relationship).

For cash flow hedge, any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time
remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transactions is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or
loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly
liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments.

Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EREFEBE®

(CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Current tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
Group's consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting periods and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting periods, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale, except for freehold land, which is always presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first determines
whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 3 B 5 A B

31 December 2023 —ZE-=%+—-A=+—8H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXRETTBER @

(CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on
a net basis.

Employee benefits

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity or paternity
leaves are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

Group companies participate in various defined contribution
pension schemes. The schemes are generally funded through
payments to insurance companies or trustee-administered funds.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when it recognises any related restructuring costs.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to present value.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be
a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the Group's financial statements unless the possibility of
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Critical accounting judgement

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
base